



LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

MEMORY COMPLAINTS, MEMORY RECALL,

AND DEPRESSION presented by

Timothy Leo Gannon

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Philosophy

Department of Psychology

Major professor

Date 12/1/94

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record.

TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE

MSU is An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution ctoin/detectus.pm3-p.1

MEMORY COMPLAINTS, MEMORY RECALL, AND DEPRESSION

Ву

Timothy Leo Gannon

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Psychology

1994

ABSTRACT

MEMORY COMPLAINTS, MEMORY RECALL, AND DEPRESSION

By

Timothy Leo Gannon

This study investigated the relationship between depressive symptoms, memory complaints, and memory recall. Participants (N = 208) for this study were community dwelling elderly (Mean age = 70) who were offered a free assessment of their mood and memory. Level of depressive symptoms was assessed with the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, the Beck Depression Inventory, and the Geriatric Depression Scale. Due to the differences in score ranges among the depression measures, the participant's test scores were converted to z-scores and summed to produce a composite depression index. In addition, three advanced-level clinicians identified test items on the three depression inventories that assessed the nine DSM-IV symptoms of depression. These groupings (i.e., factors) of test items were then assessed for validity and reliability with a confirmatory factor analysis. Only test items exhibiting factor loadings above .40 were retained. The score for memory complaints was based on the occurrence of perceived memory difficulties across eight general situations. Verbal recall was assessed with the Selective Reminding Test while cognitive status was assessed with the Mini Mental State Examination. Results indicated that a factor composed of test items that assessed

concentration difficulties/indecisiveness had a correlation of .70 (p<.0002) with memory complaints. Also, the number of words encoded into and retrieved from long-term memory were significantly related ($\underline{r} = -.20$, p<.0019) to the composite depression index. Furthermore, a significant relationship was observed between memory complaints and random recall from long-term memory ($\underline{r} = .16$, p<.05) in a subset of our sample who were identified as nondepressed. In addition, a correlation of .37 (p<.0002) was exhibited between memory complaints and syndromal depression in replication of earlier studies. Implications, as well as, limitations of these findings were discussed.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to take a moment to express my appreciation to the members of my dissertation committee. Dr. Hurley, Dr. Caldwell, and Dr. Thornton provided invaluable assistance in creating this final draft. In addition, Dr. Hurley's knowledge of statistical theory contributed greatly to my understanding and interpretation of the statistical analyses that were conducted within this paper. Most of all, I would like to thank Dr. Norman Abeles, my mentor and committee chairperson. Throughout my graduate education, no other professor has so consistently demonstrated the qualities that are essential for those who teach at the graduate level. Dr. Abeles always provided me with funding due to his awareness of my financial burdens associated with supporting a family. He was readily accessible for consultations regarding clients, research, and coursework issues. It is due to his efforts that I have obtained valuable research, coursework, assessment, and psychotherapy experience in the area of clinical neuropsychology. In addition, Dr. Abeles has continually exhibited the highest standards of ethical, compassionate, and professional conduct during the course of my training at Michigan State University and has endeavored to instill these qualities in each of his graduate students. Thank you gentlemen.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
Dementia and Explicit Memory Recall	3
Depression and Explicit Memory Recall	10
Memory Complaints	14
Memory Complaint Questionnaires	15
Memory Complaints and Depression	16
Memory Complaints and Dementia	18
Memory Complaints and Actual Memory Recall	20
Summary	24
Hypotheses	28
METHOD	30
Participants	30
Test Instruments for Severity of Depression	30
Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression	31
Beck Depression Inventory	33
Geriatric Depression Scale	34
Test Instrument for Explicit Memory	35

Table of Contents (Cont'd)

Test Instrument for Memory Complaints	36
Test Instrument for Mental Status	36
Procedure	37
RESULTS	37
DISCUSSION	43
Suggestions for Future Research	50
APPENDIX A Characteristics of the Meta-Analyses	53
APPENDIX B List of Tables	54
APPENDIX C Rule of Combinations	79
APPENDIX D SRT Word List	83
LIST OF REFERENCES	84

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Depression Factors: Consistency/Correlations with Memory Complaints	.40
Table 2	Recall in Depressed versus Nondepressed Elderly	.42
Table 3	Long-Term Memory and Dementia	.54
Table 4	Consistent Long-Term Memory and Dementia	. 58
Table 5	Long-Term Memory and Dementia/Depression	. 59
Table 6	Long-Term Memory and Depression	60
Table 7	Long-Term Memory and Depression/Pseudodementia	.64
Table 8	Memory Complaints and Depression	.65
Table 9	Memory Complaints and Dementia	. 68
Table 10	Memory Complaints and Depression/Pseudodementia	.70
Table 11	Complaints versus Performance: Demented Samples	. 71
Table 12	Complaints versus Performance: Depressed Samples	.72
Table 13	Complaints versus Performance: Healthy Elderly Samples	. 73
Table 14	Complaints versus Performance: Depressed and Healthy Elderly Samples	. 75
Table 15	Complaints versus Performance: Demented, Depressed, and Healthy Elderl	ly
	Samples	. 76
Table 16	Differentiation of Short- and Long-Term Memory	.77
Table 17	Hypotheses 95% Confidence Intervals	78

INTRODUCTION

Our memories are the result of a linear series of events. Initially, information from the external environment stimulates our sensory organs which encodes this information and transfers it to the cerebral cortex. Here the information is further encoded into short-term memory which is a type of time-limited processing store. Next, this information can be further encoded based on certain characteristics (e.g., importance, personal relevance) and consolidated into a permanent memory store (i.e., long-term memory). This information can then be retrieved spontaneously or under the aid of cues where it is experienced consciously once again (Petersen & Weingarter, 1991). This series of events, however, is often interrupted with advancing age and can lead to the development of various memory deficits. These deficits can be differentiated into input and output problems. Input problems deal with difficulties in the processing and storing of information while output problems deal with difficulties associated with the retrieval of information from long-term memory.

Investigations into the nuances of memory deficits that are associated with various pathological conditions such as dementia, head injuries, and amnesia have led to the discovery of different types of long-term memory. Of these types, explicit memory, working memory, episodic memory, semantic memory, and prospective memory have been associated with age-related declines (Craik, 1991). Explicit memory refers to the

; t
ì
L -
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

conscious recollection of recent events. An example would be when an individual recalls a list of words from a laboratory exercise that was just completed. Working memory describes tasks in which subjects must hold information in mind and also carry out some calculation or decision making process based on that information. Episodic memory refers to the "where" and "when" of events and episodes in a person's life. For example, episodic memory would be used by someone to recall what they had for breakfast this morning.

Semantic memory deals with general knowledge about the world. It would likely be used to recall who flew the first airplane. Prospective memory refers to situations in which the person must remember to carry out some task in the future.

Long-term memory has also been differentiated by the type of sensory process that led to the initial encoding. Based on this categorization, a different type of memory can result from each of our sensory modalities (i.e., visual memory, tactile memory, olfactory memory, auditory memory, and memory for different tastes). Memory has also been classified into verbal and visual components. In this case, the two should be viewed as the poles of a continuum since many spatial diagrams can be encoded both verbally and spatially by an observer. However, regardless of the type of long-term memory or the sensory apparatus that led to its encoding, memory impairment can have a devastating impact on the individual, family, and society (e.g., health care system) due to the essential role that it plays in learning and functioning in day-to-day life. Presently, memory problems are considered to be one of the primary reasons for family referrals of the elderly. Furthermore, they appear to primarily result from an underlying dementia and/or depression (Heath, Grant, Kamps, & Margolin, 1991). In order to ascertain the size of the

relationship between memory recall difficulties, memory complaints, dementia, and depression, while avoiding the inherent biases in summarizing the results in a narrative format (Smith, Glass, & Miller, 1980), a series of meta-analyses were conducted (Hunter & Schmidt, 1990). These analyses were limited to studies involving the elderly (i.e., >55 years of age) to allow direct comparisons with the sample found in the present study and due to the possibility that the relationship between memory impairment and depressive symptomatology is moderated by age (Lichtenberg, Manning, & Turkheimer, 1992). These analyses were also limited to those studies assessing explicit memory recall using tasks such as word lists and prose recall since they are analogous to many everyday situations (e.g., shopping list, to-do list, newspaper and magazine articles) that the elderly encounter.

Dementia and Explicit Memory Recall

Presently, upwards of four million people are thought to suffer from Alzheimer's disease in our country with projections suggesting that this figure will double or triple within the next century if a cure is not discovered (National Institute on Aging, 1990). As staggering as these numbers are, they only represent about one-half of all dementias that exist within our borders (Lezak, 1983). One of the most commonly used set of criteria for the diagnosis of dementia is the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV; American Psychiatric Association, 1994). The DSM-IV considers impaired learning and memory to be essential features of this condition. Furthermore, at least one of the following disturbances must also be present: (a) impaired executive functioning (i.e., disturbances in planning, organization, sequencing, or abstract thinking), (b) agnosia

(i.e., inability to recognize or identify items despite normal sensory function), (c) apraxia (i.e., impaired ability to carry out motor activities despite normal motor function), or (d) aphasia (i.e., a language disturbance). In addition, the associated memory impairments and cortical disturbances must significantly interfere with the individual's work or social activities and there should be evidence of a specific organic factor that is related to these impairments and disturbances. However, in the absence of such evidence, an organic factor may still be hypothesized if the problems cannot be explained by nonorganic disorders. If these criteria are met, the dementia is further classified by the presence of (a) delirium, (b) delusions, (c) depressed mood, or (d) uncomplicated (i.e., if a - c are not present). In previous DSM versions that were used across some of the following studies for diagnoses, dementia was also rated as mild (e.g., presence of work and social impairment but the individual can still live independently), moderate (e.g., some supervision in living is necessary), or severe (e.g., continual supervision is required; individual is mostly incoherent or mute). For the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease (i.e., primary degenerative dementia of the Alzheimer type), the criteria for dementia must be met in addition to (a) an insidious onset characterized by a general deteriorating course and (b) the exclusion of all other causes of dementia by history, physical exam, and laboratory analysis.

A literature search identified 17 studies that assessed demented individuals on an explicit memory task (Breen, Larson, Reifler, Vitaliano, & Lawrence, 1984; Feehan, Knight, & Partridge, 1991; Flicker, Ferris, & Reisberg, 1993; Gibson, 1981; Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Hamer, 1987; Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Harkins, 1987; King, Caine,

Conwell, & Cox, 1991; Larrabee, Largen, & Levin, 1985; Lines et al., 1991; Masur, Fuld, Blau, Crystal, & Aronson, 1990; Niederehe & Yoder, 1989; Poitrenaud, Moy, Girousse, Wolmark, & Piette, 1989; Robinson-Wheelen & Storandt, 1992; Rubin, Kinscherf, Grant, & Storandt, 1991; Speedie, Rabins, Pearlson, & Moberg, 1990; Storandt, Botwinick, & Danziger, 1987; Weingartner, Grafman, Boutelle, Kaye, & Martin, 1983;). The criteria used for ascertaining the existence of dementia among these studies varied widely. Two of the studies did not mention the diagnostic criteria that their samples were based on. while the remaining studies based their diagnoses on one or more of the following measures: the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Third Edition (DSM-III; American Psychiatric Association, 1980), its revision (DSM-III-R; American Psychiatric Association, 1987), the Research and Diagnostic Criteria (RDC; Spitzer, Endicott, & Robins, 1978), combined ratings from a neurologist, psychiatrist, and neuropsychologist, the Diagnostic Interview Schedule (Robins, Helzer, Croughin, & Ratcliffe, 1981), a structured interview, the Dementia Scale (Blessed, Tomlinson, & Roth, 1968), the Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire (Pfeiffer, 1975), the Face-Hand Test (Fink, Green, & Bender, 1952), the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE; Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975), the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke-Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA; McKhann et al., 1984), the Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (Hughes, Berg, Danzinger, Coben, & Martin, 1982), or Reisberg's Global Deterioration Scale (Reisberg, Ferris, de Leon, & Crook, 1982). The severity of the dementia among these studies also varied from "very mild" cases to "advanced." Twelve

of the 17 studies only assessed patients with Alzheimer's disease, while the remainder included patients suffering from other forms of dementia. Age and education, and, in some cases, gender and socioeconomic status were controlled for. In each of the studies, the mean difference in total recall scores was determined by comparing the demented group against a healthy control group. The memory measures that these recall scores were based on consisted of a number of different word list tasks (e.g., Selective Reminding Test) and prose recall tasks (e.g., Logical Memory).

For each of these studies, " \underline{r} ," the point-biserial correlation was computed (Hunter & Schmidt, 1990; pp. 272-273). The point biserial correlation describes the amount of relationship that exists between the group (i.e., demented versus control) and the level of explicit memory. From the 17 studies obtained through the literature search, 24 effect sizes were calculated. The larger number of effect sizes were the result of some studies including multiple memory measures or multiple groups of subjects that varied in the severity of dementia (See Appendix B, Table 3). These point biserial correlations ranged from $\underline{r} = -.11$ to $\underline{r} = -1.00$ and had a weighted average of $\underline{r} = -.75$. The weighted average point biserial correlation gives the average effect size obtained across the studies while taking into account the differences in sample size. This negative correlation implies that the demented subjects had poorer total recall scores on the measures of explicit memory than normal.

Two studies also examined the consistency of memory recall among demented samples (Larrabee et al., 1985; Masur et al., 1990). Consistency of recall was measured with the Buschke Selective Reminding Test (SRT; Buschke, 1973). The SRT has been

used extensively to assess the effects of marijuana, anesthesia, benzodiazepines, nerve growth factor, and Physostigmine on memory (Miller, Cornett, & McFarland, 1978; Morgan, Furman, & Dikmen, 1981; Thal & Fuld, 1983; Thal, Fuld, Masur, & Sharpless, 1983; Block & Berchou, 1984; Pomara et al., 1985; Stern, Sano, & Mayeux, 1987; Pomara, Deptula, Medel, Block, & Greenblatt, 1989; Thal, Masur, Blau, Fuld, & Klauber, 1989; Olson et al., 1992). It has also been used to examine developmental differences in memory, as well as, memory deficits in Age-Associated Memory Impairment, Huntington's disease, Alzheimer's disease, alcoholism, depression, and dementia (Buschke, 1974; Fuld, 1976; Caine, Ebert, & Weingarter, 1977; Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Hamer, 1987: Larrabee & Crook, 1989). Although the SRT is one of several, multiple trial, free recall tasks, it is different from other word list tasks (e.g., Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Task) in that it discriminates between retrieval from short-term memory and long-term memory. In addition, it quantifies several subcomponents associated with long-term memory. This discrimination is possible due to the unique way in which the memory test is conducted. During the first trial, all 12 words are presented to the subject while in subsequent trials, only those words not recalled on the previous trial are mentioned. Once a word is recalled on two consecutive trials, it is assumed to have entered long-term memory (i.e., LTM). Prior to this, it is assumed to have been retrieved from short-term memory (i.e., STM). Here lies the SRT's uniqueness. Other word list tasks repeat the entire list of words during each trial. Unfortunately, this does not allow the researcher to differentiate words that are being recalled from short-term memory from those that are being retrieved from long-term memory.

Another feature of the SRT is that it differentiates between random and consistent retrieval from long-term memory. Consistent long term retrieval (i.e., <u>CLTR</u>) refers to words retrieved from long-term memory on that trial and all following trials while all other word retrievals from long-term memory are considered random long term retrieval (i.e., RLTR). Through an analysis of word retrieval from long-term memory in both children and adults (Buschke, 1974; Fuld & Buschke, 1976), Buschke demonstrated that random and consistent retrieval represent two qualitatively different stages of verbal learning. The ability to differentiate word recall into these subcomponents can lead to the recognition of differences between subjects that may have initially appeared similar based on a total recall score. For example, suppose two subjects took a six-trial, 12-word SRT and each obtained a total recall score of 30 (i.e., <u>SUM</u>). This means that both subjects recalled a total of 30 words across the six trials. This total, however, is a combination of words that were recalled from short-term memory and those retrieved both randomly and consistently from long-term memory. With this gross measure of recall, it appears that both subjects remembered the word list to the same extent. However, despite the same total recall score, dramatic differences may still exist in how the words are recalled (See Appendix B, Table 17).

As table 17 demonstrates, an evaluation of subject #1's trials reveals that the subject recalled 18 of the 30 words from short-term memory and 12 words randomly from long-term memory. This subject did not recall any words on a consistent basis from long-term memory and appears to primarily rely on short-term memory. An evaluation of subject #2, however, reveals that the subject recalled 7 of the 30 words from short-term

memory, 10 words randomly from long-term memory, and 13 words consistently from long-term memory. Although recalling 13 words consistently sounds incorrect since there were only 12 words on the SRT, this is because the words that are consistently recalled during each trial are summed over the six trials. This method of summing across trials also holds for SUM, LTM, and RLTR. Based on these scores, one of the main differences that is evident between these two subjects is that subject #2 has learned a greater portion of the word list. Learning here is defined as facts that can be consistently recalled from long term memory.

From the three studies that tested consistent recall among those with dementia, four effect sizes were calculated. These ranged from $\underline{r} = -.54$ to $\underline{r} = -.78$ and had a weighted average of $\underline{r} = -.56$ (See Appendix B, Table 4). This negative correlation signifies that as dementia increased in severity, the consistency of recall decreased. This value is substantially smaller than the correlation of -.75 obtained based on total recall scores. However, since a total recall score is only partially a result of continuous recall from long-term memory, the most likely explanation is that the difference between these two correlations is due to the role that deficits in short-term memory and random retrieval from long-term memory play in dementia.

Two studies were also found that examined subjects who were diagnosed with both depression and dementia (Breen et al., 1984; Rubin et al., 1991). In each of these, assessment was limited to total recall scores based on Logical Memory, a prose recall task (See Appendix B, Table 5). The effect sizes that were calculated from the authors' analyses ranged from r = -.74 to r = -.95 with a weighted average of r = -.92 that takes

into account the differences in sample size between the studies. This correlation means that as dementia and depression increase in severity, there is a corresponding decrease in total recall scores. Apparently, the relationship between poorer memory performance and coexisting dementia and depression is stronger than what is observed when the participants are only afflicted with one of these diagnoses. However, without an analysis of which components of memory were associated with these deficits, it cannot be determined if this larger correlation is because dementia and depression cause different memory deficits that are additive in nature or if they merely amplify memory difficulties that are common to both. Also, since the weighted correlation is only based on two studies (N = 21), it may be higher than the actual population value due to chance. In summary, there appears to be a strong negative relationship between explicit memory performance and dementia (R = 56%) that appears to be largely due to deficits in consistent long-term memory retrieval (R = 31%) In addition, when subjects are diagnosed with both dementia and depression, the relationship with poorer recall becomes even stronger. Furthermore, since the amount or proportion of words that are entered into long-term memory and those words randomly recalled from long-term memory appear to have not been assessed in other dementia-related studies, we still lack an understanding of what contributions they play to dementia's overall memory deficits.

Depression and Explicit Memory Recall

The rate of major depression in the United States and Europe appears to range from 10% to 25% among females and 5% to 12% among males depending on the study and the specific criteria that are used (American Psychiatric Association, 1994). The

DSM-IV criteria for this nosological category requires the presence of a major depressive episode in the absence of a manic or hypomanic episode. A major depressive episode, in turn, is characterized by the presence of at least five of the following symptoms (i.e., a - i) during the same two-week period which occur over most of the day and nearly every day: (a) depressed mood, (b) significantly attenuated interest or pleasure in all, or most of one's activities, (c) significant weight loss/gain or fluctuations in appetite, (d) insomnia/ hypersomnia, (e) observable psychomotor agitation/retardation, (f) fatigue/loss of energy, (g) perceived worthlessness or inappropriate guilt, (h) decreased concentration, thinking ability, or indecisiveness, and/or (i) a suicide attempt or plan, recurrent suicidal ideation or thoughts of death. In addition, (i) there should not be an indication of an organic factor associated with the depressive disturbance, (k) bereavement and schizoaffective disorder should be ruled out, (1) delusions and hallucinations should not have been present for two weeks or longer without the presence of prominent depressive symptoms, (m) the depressive disturbance should not be superimposed on Schizophrenia, Schizophreniform Disorder, Delusional Disorder, or Psychotic Disorder Not Otherwise Specified, and (n) there is no history of a manic, mixed, or hypomanic episode. If the above conditions are met, the depressive episode is then rated as (a) mild (e.g., minimal symptoms required for diagnosis), (b) moderate (e.g., symptoms or level of impairment between mild and severe), (c) severe without psychotic features (e.g., several symptoms in excess of those required for diagnosis and marked impairment with the individual's occupational and social realms), (d) severe with psychotic features (e.g., delusions or hallucinations), (e) in partial remission, (f) in full remission, or (g) unspecified.

In addition to the nosological category described above, depression can also be categorized as a syndrome. Syndromal depression indicates a group of symptoms (e.g., depressed mood, diminished interest in activities, significant weight loss or gain) that may be primary to a diagnosis of Major Depression (i.e., a nosological category) or be secondary to another psychopathological disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia). A search of the literature for studies that examined the relationship between explicit memory and depression (i.e., either as a nosological category or syndrome) among the elderly resulted in 18 studies (Danion, Willard-Schroeder, Zimmerman, Grange, Schlienger, & Singer. 1991; Feehan, Knight, & Partridge, 1991; Gannon, 1994; Gibson, 1981; Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Hamer, 1987; Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Harkins, 1987; King, Caine, Conwell, & Cox, 1991; Lachman, Steinberg, & Trotter, 1987; Lichtenberg, Manning, & Turkheimer, 1992; Mormont, 1984; Niederehe & Yoder, 1989; O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wallace, Lemke, & Kohout, 1986; Poitrenaud, Moy, Girousse, Wolmark, & Piette, 1989; Popkin, Gallagher, Thompson, & Moore, 1982; Rubin, Kinscherf, Grant, & Storandt, 1991; Speedie, Rabins, Pearlson, & Moberg, 1990; West, Boatwright, & Schleser, 1984; Zarit, 1982). Studies were not limited to those that assessed individuals with a nosological categorization of depression since there are indications that explicit memory deficits are associated with the severity of syndromal depression irrespective of the presence of major depression (Johnson & Magaro, 1987). From these studies, 25 effect sizes were calculated. The additional effect sizes were due to the inclusion of multiple groups or multiples measures of depression and memory recall within some of the studies. These studies were of two main types. The first type consisted of 12 studies that assessed

depressed elderly inpatients and/or outpatients. Diagnosis was based on a psychiatrist's rating, the DSM-III, DSM-III-R, or the RDC. Each of these studies determined the mean difference in explicit memory total recall scores when compared with healthy controls. In most cases, age and education were controlled for. The second type was composed of seven studies that examined the relationship between total recall scores and the scores obtained from depression inventories (e.g., Geriatric Depression Scale). In this second group, however, the elderly participants were not formally assessed for the presence or absence of depression. Memory measures across both groups of studies were total recall scores based on either word lists (e.g., Miller's word list) or paragraph recall (e.g., Logical Memory). The resulting effect sizes of the relationship between depression and memory recall ranged from r = .13 to r = .90 with a weighted average of r = .30 (See Appendix B, Table 6). This negative correlation signifies that as depression increased, total recall scores on the explicit memory task decreased. These depressed total recall scores, in turn, are the result of a decrease in word retrieval from short- and/or long-term memory. However, since there did not appear to be any studies that examined the relationship between long-term memory or its subcomponents (i.e., random and consistent retrieval) and depression, the question of what leads to the lower total recall scores in depression is presently unknown. One possibility for this relationship may be that poorer concentration among those depressed leads to poorer encoding which, in turn, allows less words to enter long-term memory. Also, motivational deficits that can be associated with depression may lead to depressed consistency of recall.

In a slightly different vein, Speedie, Rabins, Pearlson, and Moberg's (1990) assessed depressed subjects who were also suffering from pseudodementia. Here pseudodementia was defined as depression-induced dementia. In other words, the patients experienced the symptoms of dementia while being severely depressed but as their depression lessened, the dementia was also relieved. The participants in this study were assessed on the Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test (Rey, 1964) and compared to a group of healthy controls (See Appendix B, Table 7). From their results, an effect size of $\underline{r} =$ -.47 was calculated. This indicates that depression and pseudodementia were associated with poorer recall scores. The authors also reported that their patients with pseudodementia obtained better recall scores than those with irreversible dementia. This could suggest that the memory deficits are due to a different mechanism and/or are not impaired to the same extent.

Memory Complaints

Overall, it appears that a substantial portion of the elderly perceive that their memory becomes problematic with age. Lowenthal (1967) observed that self-reports of declining memory among individuals residing in the San Francisco Bay area increased from 31% for those 60 to 64 years of age to 65% for those over 75 years of age (N = 984). Data based on the Eastern Baltimore Mental Health Survey, which was part of the National Institute of Health's 1981 Epidemiologic Catchment Area Program, indicated that the prevalence of memory complaints reached 43% for those 65 to 70 years of age. For individuals that were 75 to 84 years of age, this figure increased to 51% while 88% of those above the age of 84 had memory complaints (N = 810; Bassett & Folstein, 1993).

In a more recent and larger study (N = 10,611) by Cutler and Grams (1988) that utilized data from the 1984 National Health Interview Survey, complaints of frequent forgetting were assessed. However, while this only represents one type of memory complaint, the rates were still at 15% for those 55 years of age or older and 23% for those 65 or older. Memory Complaint Questionnaires

This self-awareness of memory ability or disability is considered one of the components of metamemory (Flavell, 1977). Initial research in this area involved assessing individuals for the presence of memory complaints through brief interviews or questionnaires that either asked if the subject had memory problems or that gauged the extent of any memory difficulties (e.g., frequency of problems). Hermann (1982) pointed out that the benefits of such an approach include not having to assess an individual over a long period of time and detecting memory problems that observation would not pick up (e.g., if memory strategies were used). Since these initial measures, numerous memory complaint questionnaires have been developed that differ in both content and format. Differences in content include inquiring about the (a) frequency of forgetting, (b) clarity of memories, (c) quality of memories, (d) degree of change in memory over time, (e) methods of using their memory, and (f) affective stance towards their memories. Even within these content areas, further subdivisions are common. For instance, the frequency of memory difficulties has been estimated based on (a) a certain unit of time, (b) relative to the number of opportunities to use their memory in specific situations, and (c) relative to other individuals (Hermann, 1982).

Memory complaint questionnaires can also differ in the level of detail that is obtained. "How often do you forget to take your medicine?" is an example of low detail while "How often when you are on vacation do you forget to take your medicine?" is an example of high detail. Some questionnaires may even assess only specific memory situations. For example, the Inventory of Learning Processes (Schmeck, Ribich, & Ramanaiah, 1977), only focuses on situations in a college setting. Format differences within these questionnaires can range from open-ended questions typical of interviews to multiple choice answers.

One of the more recent examples of self-appraisal, is the Memory Functioning Questionnaire (Gilewski, Zelinski, & Schaie, 1990). This measure is composed of 64 items that are weighted on a seven-point Likert scale. They result in scores for (a) the frequency of forgetting, (b) the seriousness of forgetting, (c) retrospective functioning, and (d) mnemonics usage. The score for frequency of forgetting is based on the subject's perception of their forgetfulness in 28 situations, as well as, five ratings of their general memory performance. Seriousness of forgetting rates the "seriousness" of their forgetting in 18 different situations. Retrospective functioning is based on comparisons of one's current memory with five earlier time periods in the subject's life while mnemonics usage rates how frequently the subject uses eight different mnemonics.

Memory Complaints and Depression

Within the elderly population, a variety of these memory complaint questionnaires have been used to detail how various parameters of memory complaints (e.g., frequency, severity) are affected by emotional and organic conditions such as depression and

dementia. Fourteen studies were found that examined the relationship between memory complaints and depression among the elderly (Chandler & Gerndt, 1988; Derouesne et al., 1989; Feehan, Knight, & Partridge, 1991; Grut et al. 1993; Kahn, Zarit, Hilbert, & Niederehe, 1975; Niederehe & Yoder, 1989; O'Boyle, Amadeo, & Self, 1990; O'Connor, Pollitt, Roth, Brook, & Reiss, 1990; O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wallace, Lemke, & Kohout, 1986; Popkin, Gallagher, Thompson, & Moore, 1982; Tun, Perlmutter, Russo, & Nathan, 1987; West, Boatwright, & Schleser, 1984; Zarit, 1982; Zelinski, Anthony-Bergstone, & Gilewski, 1990;). These could be further subdivided into two categories. The first category assessed elderly who were depressed inpatients or outpatients. Diagnosis was based on the DSM-III, DSM-III-R, or the RDC. These studies either assessed the relationship between memory complaints and scores on a depression inventory (e.g., Beck Depression Inventory) or determined the mean difference in memory complaints when compared with healthy controls. The second group of studies examined the relationship between memory complaints and scores on a depression inventory among elderly participants who were not formally assessed for the presence or absence of depression. Again, both types of studies were included due to the possibility that memory complaints are associated with syndromal depression rather than the nosological category of depression. From these studies, 19 effect sizes of the relationship between depression and memory complaints were calculated. These correlations ranged from r = .18 to r = .70with a weighted average of \underline{r} = .34 (See Appendix B, Table 8). This positive correlation indicates that depression is associated with a higher prevalence of memory complaints. Furthermore, since a heightened level of memory complaints has been associated with

greater levels of somatic complaints (Hanninen et al., 1994), it may be that the relationship between depression and memory complaints is primarily due to the somatic components of depression (e.g., insomnia, psychomotor agitation). Alternatively, it may be that a diminished ability to concentrate, another DSM-IV symptom of depression, leads to a decreased number of words entering long-term memory (i.e., LTS).

Memory Complaints and Dementia

The relationship between memory complaints and dementia was examined by Kahn, Zarit, Hilbert, and Niederehe (1975), Niederehe and Yoder (1989), McGlone et al. (1990), O'Connor, Pollitt, Roth, Brook, and Reiss (1990), Feehan, Knight, and Partridge (1991), and Grut et al. (1993). All participants within these studies were diagnosed with dementia based on the criteria of the DSM-III, DSM-III-R, Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Elderly Examination (CAMDEX; Roth et al. 1986), or from the combined test results of the Mental Status Questionnaire (Pfeiffer, 1975) and the Face-Hand Test (Kahn, Goldfarb, Pollack, & Peck, 1960). These samples of elderly were inpatients and outpatients, as well as, community-dwelling elderly who responded to local newspaper and radio announcements. While Grut et al. (1993) calculated the correlation between the subjects scores on the Mini Mental State Examination (i.e., a test of cognitive impairment) with the presence of memory complaints, the remainder of the studies examined group differences in memory complaints between samples of impaired and healthy controls. From these 6 studies, 14 effect sizes were calculated. This sizable difference between study number and effect size number was mainly due to Kahn et al. (1975) in which eight effect sizes were calculated. The effect sizes across these studies ranged from r = -.44 to

 \underline{r} = .49 and had a weighted average of \underline{r} = .23 (See Appendix B, Table 9). The weighted average indicates that demented individuals had a greater number of memory complaints. However, the wide range of correlations, which encompasses equally strong negative and positive values, suggests that other factors are affecting this relationship. One such factor appears to be the severity of dementia. Grut et al. (1993) reported that the frequency of memory complaints were the least among those subjects with Mini Mental State Examination scores of 26 to 30 (i.e., non-demented) and 0 to 5 (i.e., severe dementia). It appears that once an individual has severe dementia, they are no longer aware of their memory deficits. Grut et al. (1993) also found that between these two extremes, memory complaints were found to increase as MMSE scores decreased (i.e., participants became more demented). This observation seems to also be in line with the findings of O'Connor et al. (1990). Here, the correlation between memory complaints and dementia increased from \underline{r} = .32 for those with mild dementia to \underline{r} = .46 for those with moderate dementia.

Only one study (O'Boyle, Amadeo, & Self, 1990) was found that examined the relationship between depression, pseudodementia, and memory complaints (See Appendix B, Table 10). The patients for this study were selected from an analysis of 83 admissions to a geropsychiatric unit who had received a DSM-III diagnosis of depression. Of these patients, 11 had initial Mini-Mental State Examination scores of 23 or below indicating the presence of dementia. However, following treatment, their scores on the Mini-Mental State Examination were 24 or better indicating a lack of cognitive impairment. In these 11 pseudodemented subjects, scores on a cognitive complaints inventory completed at admission were compared with their scores on the Beck Depression Inventory also taken

during admission to the unit. A strong relationship ($\underline{r} = .81$) was found that was more than twice the size of average weighted correlation found in studies comparing memory complaints and depression.

Memory Complaints and Actual Memory Recall

Overall, studies examining the relationship between memory complaints and depression, dementia, and pseudodementia have described relationships of varying strength. However, this does not imply that actual memory problems exist. A number of studies have reported discrepancies between memory complaints and actual memory performance involving subjects who were depressed, demented, or healthy. Within these studies, objective memory performance was based on total recall scores from tests of paragraph recall (e.g., Babcock Story Recall), word recall (e.g., Buschke Selective Reminding Test), or memory test batteries (e.g., Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Elderly Examination). Two of these studies investigated the relationship between memory complaints and objective memory performance among demented samples (Kahn et al. 1975; O'Connor et al. 1990). The effect sizes that were calculated from their findings ranged from r = .06 to r = .29, with a weighted average of r = .22 (See Appendix B, Table 11). This positive correlation indicates only a small association of greater complaints and greater objective memory impairment. Since the correlations are markedly higher in O'Connor et al. (1990), in which participants had mild to moderate dementia, it may be that Kahn et al. (1975) assessed subjects with more severe levels of dementia. It would seem plausible that persons with advanced dementia would be unable to perceive the extent of their actual memory deficits and hence would have a lower correlation between

complaints and actual performance. These two studies also examined the relationship between memory complaints and objective memory performance in participants who were diagnosed depressed (See Appendix B, Table 12). Here the range of effect sizes was $\underline{r} = .01$ to $\underline{r} = .01$ with a weighted average of $\underline{r} = .00$. This suggests that no relationship was found between memory ability and complaints among depressed individuals. Based on Beck's cognitive theory of depression (Beck, 1967), one potential explanation is that views of the self were so negatively distorted among those with depression that they did not reflect accurate representations of reality. Based on the DSM-IV criteria for depression, this explanation would suggest that feelings of worthlessness and inappropriate guilt may be more related to heightened memory complaints than the other depressive criteria (e.g., significant weight loss or gain).

The relationship between memory complaints and performance has also been examined using healthy elderly samples (Zarit, 1982; Sunderland, Watts, Baddeley, & Harris, 1986; O'Connor, Pollitt, Roth, Brook, & Reiss, 1990; Zelinski, Anthony-Bergstone, & Gilewski, 1990; Taylor, Miller, & Tinklenberg, 1992, Gannon, 1994). In this population, the 11 effect sizes that were calculated were found to range from $\underline{r} = .05$ to $\underline{r} = .40$ with a weighted average of $\underline{r} = .20$ (See Appendix B, Table 14). This low, positive correlation signifies that as memory complaints increased, actual memory ability showed only a slight tendency to become poorer. A few studies also examined mixed groups of elderly (See Appendix B, Tables 15 & 16). O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wallace, Lemke, and Kohout (1986) combined depressed and healthy elderly together and reported a correlation of .10 between memory complaints and performance while in combined groups

of demented, depressed, and healthy elderly, similar relationships ($\underline{r_{avg}} = .11$) have been observed (Derouesne et al. 1989; Niederehe & Yoder, 1989). These studies that combined different populations appear to have illustrated the importance of subject differences. It seems that when elderly who are demented, depressed, or healthy are combined, any relationship that may exist between memory complaints and objective performance is no longer evident.

Although the low correlations between memory performance and perception calls into question the utility of memory questionnaires, numerous reasons have been advanced to explain these low correlations as well as the sizable interstudy differences. It has been suggested that (a) the elderly may have a poorer ability to predict their actual memory performance (Cavanaugh & Perlmutter, 1982), (b) some subjects may be inaccurate because of early dementia and/or depression (Wells, 1980; Zarit, 1982; Zelinski et al., 1990), (c) certain questionnaires may suffer from psychometric limitations, (d) it may be a function of different types of memory performance that were assessed, (e) it may be due to differences in health status of the subjects, (f) depression was not controlled for (Erickson, Poon, & Walsh-Sweeney, 1980; Hermann, 1982; Zelinski et al., 1990), (g) by including only healthy subjects, the range of scores is restricted (Hultsch, Hertzog, & Dixon, 1987), (h) they are due to unassessed differences in the subjects' attributions and locus of control (Lachman, Steinberg, & Trotter, 1987), (i) studies using less than a 7-point Likert scale may not differentiate memory complaints sufficiently enough (Zarit, 1982), (j) it may be a result of individual differences in quantifying the degree of memory complaints on a Likert scale (Taylor, Miller, & Tinklenberg, 1992), (k) studies are not taking into account

contributing lifestyle and effort factors (Sunderland, Watts, Baddeley, & Harris, 1986), (l) the memory questionnaires may not have been extensive enough (Niederehe & Yoder, 1989), (m) grouping all demented patients together may confound the results (Grut et al, 1993), (n) individuals may hold inaccurate beliefs about their memory ability (Hermann, Grubs, Sigmundi, & Grueneich, 1986), and (o) memory tests may not be sensitive to everyday memory problems.

In spite of this wide variety of explanations, it appears that most of the studies in this area have emphasized only two of the above explanations. The first is that memory questionnaires are not extensive enough. This is based on the increasing number of studies that are employing questionnaires with additional numbers of test items and content areas (Hermann, 1982). The other explanation is that individuals may hold inaccurate beliefs about their memory ability. This is based on the observation that a number of the newer questionnaires are completed by someone other than the individual with the memory complaints. In these instances, a spouse or relative who can observe the participant on a daily basis provides the necessary information (e.g., Sunderland et al. 1986). However, both of these explanations attempt to deal with supposed deficits in the memory questionnaires. The author is unaware of any study that has addressed the explanation that the low correlations between memory complaints and memory recall performance may be the result of the method in which memory is measured (i.e., total recall scores). For example, it would seem possible that the randomness or consistency of recall may more directly reflect an individual's perception of forgetfulness than a gross measure of recall such as total recall.

Summary

A number of findings were gleaned from this series of meta-analyses. First, deficits in total recall are related to dementia and depression to varying degrees, $\underline{r} = -.75$ and $\underline{r} = -$.30, respectively. Unfortunately, this measure does not describe to what extent these deficits are due to problems with short-term memory and long-term memory. Only a couple of studies limited to demented individuals have attempted to differentiate total recall deficits into those that are due to impaired entry into long-term memory or the result of changes in random or consistent retrieval from long-term memory (Larrabee et al., 1985; Masur et al., 1990). Such information would appear to be essential in order to successfully critique the direct and side effects of different drug treatments that are being developed for dementia and depression. Second, the relationship between memory complaints and memory recall performance (i.e., total recall scores) is dismal irregardless of the population being examined (estimated mean rs of .22 for dementia, .00 for depression, and $\underline{r} = -.20$ for healthy elderly). Efforts at strengthening this relationship appear to have been primarily limited to increasing the content and length of memory questionnaires. The author is unaware of any studies that have attempted to determine if the relationship would be stronger by comparing memory complaints, as measured by the initial measures that assessed merely the presence and/or frequency of memory complaints, with the subcomponents of long-term memory (i.e., LTS, CLTR, RLTR). Since the presence of subjective memory complaints is required for such conditions as ageassociated memory impairment (AAMI; Crook, Bartus, Ferris, Whitehouse, Cohen, &

Gershon, 1986), it would seem vital to examine the extent of all potential relationships between memory complaints and objective memory performance.

Third, there does appear to be a positive relationship between depression and memory complaints (i.e., $\underline{r} = .34$) and a negative relationship between depression and poorer explicit memory recall (i.e., $\underline{r} = -.30$). However, the author is unaware of attempts to determine if these relationships are due to some of the specific criteria of depression (e.g., feelings of worthlessness, somatic criteria). Fourth, with the exception of Gannon (1994), the studies in these meta-analyses have not reported correcting for attenuation due to measurement error in their calculations. This will result in lower correlations than actually exist in their respective populations. Fifth, the scoring method used in the SRT to determine consistent recall may lead to an inaccurate representation of the role of consistent retrieval in different conditions (e.g., dementia). Since this has not been mentioned previously, I will describe this in greater detail.

It may be recalled that through analyses of word retrieval from long-term memory in both children and adults (Buschke, 1974; Fuld & Buschke, 1976), the SRT was able to differentiate two qualitatively different stages of verbal learning, random and consistent retrieval. Buschke (1974) hypothesized that this was the result of retrieval reflecting the adequacy of storage. One benefit of this finding was that verbal learning could be investigated through stages of learning (i.e., random versus consistent retrieval) rather than attempting to make a distinction between storage and retrieval. The difficulty with distinguishing between storage and retrieval is due to their intertwining relationship. While retrieval is required to demonstrate that the storage of information took place,

effective retrieval requires adequate storage (Fuld & Buschke, 1976). In other words, if a subject cannot retrieve some piece of information from long-term memory, is it due to storage difficulties, retrieval difficulties, or both? With Buschke's approach, it is far simpler. The better the storage (i.e., encoding), the better the retrieval. The poorer the storage, the poorer the retrieval.

One difficulty with studies that have assessed consistent long term recall (i.e., CLTR), is that the criteria for determining which words are consistently recalled often varies. In Buschke's original paper on the SRT (1973), a word only had to be recalled across a minimum of the last two trials (i.e., Trial 5 & 6) in order to be considered consistently recalled. However, other studies have used scoring criteria that required that the word be recalled across at least the last three trials (Masur et al., 1989) or even a larger number of trials (Fuld & Buschke, 1976) to be considered consistently recalled. This can lead to different findings across studies. A second difficulty is that Buschke's scoring convention appears to assume that if a word was consistently recalled across trials 5 and 6, it would also be recalled on any additional trials (e.g., trial 7). However, the author is unaware of any study on which this claim can be based. Recalling a word across two consecutive trials should demonstrate the same degree of consistency in retrieval irregardless of which two trials the word was recalled on (e.g., trial 1 & 2 or trial 5 & 6). Using Buschke's scoring criteria misrepresents the role that consistent and, consequently, random retrieval are playing in the subjects that are being assessed To demonstrate this, I will use the original definition of consistent recall which requires that a word from longterm memory be retrieved during at least the last two trials (See Appendix C). This

Appendix shows all possible combinations of how a word could be recalled across six trials and whether it is considered retrieved from: short-term memory (i.e., STM) and/or long-term memory (i.e., LTS) and retrieved randomly (i.e., RLTR), and/or consistently (i.e., CLTR) from long-term memory. The problem with the definition of consistent recall becomes evident when one examines the different possible events that can occur during word recall. Some words may be recalled much more consistently across the six trials but are considered derived from random retrieval (i.e., RLTR) since they were not recalled during the 5th and 6th trials.

For example, in the subsection describing all possible events for words that are recalled four times, it seems that event 1 and event 2 are much more indicative of consistent retrieval than event 15, however, event 1 and 2 are scored 4 for random retrieval and 0 for consistent retrieval. Event 15 on the other hand, gets a score of 2 for consistent retrieval. This results in an inaccurate measure of the consistency of retrieval from long-term memory. A potential solution could be to use another measure of retrieval consistency, referred to as consistent retrieval (i.e., <u>CR</u>; Masur et al., 1989). This represents the total number of events across a word list task in which words are recalled on two consecutive trials from long-term memory. The higher the number, the greater the consistency of recall. To calculate random retrieval (i.e., <u>RR</u>), words that have been recalled from long-term memory that are not recalled on two consecutive trials could be summed. This would also solve the problem of the dichotomous separation of random and consistent retrieval that results from Buschke's scoring convention. If, as Buschke

(1973) states, retrieval reflects the adequacy of storage, then retrieval would be better viewed along a continuum.

Hypotheses

Based on the findings described in this summary, the following six hypotheses were examined.

- #1. It was hypothesized that the somatic components of syndromal depression were related to memory complaints. Based on this hypothesis, a factor composed of test-items from the depression inventories that assessed the DSM-IV somatic criteria of depression (i.e., significant weight loss/gain, insomnia/ hypersomnia, psychomotor agitation/ retardation, fatigue) should exhibit a stronger positive relationship with the frequency of memory complaints then a "cognitive" factor based on test-items that assessed the remaining DSM-IV depression criteria (i.e., depressed mood, diminished interest, feelings of worthlessness, diminished ability to concentrate, recurrent thoughts of death).
- #2. It is hypothesized that feelings of worthlessness and inappropriate guilt, one of the DSM-IV symptoms of depression, is what relates depression scores to the number of memory complaints. Based on this hypothesis, a factor composed of test-items from the depression inventories that assessed this characteristic of depression should manifest a stronger relationship with memory complaints then factors based on the test-items that assessed the other DSM-IV characteristics of depression.
- #3. It is hypothesized that a diminished ability to concentrate or heightened indecisiveness, another of the DSM-IV symptoms of depression, is what relates depression scores to the frequency of memory complaints. Consequently, a factor based on test items

from the depression inventories that assessed this characteristic of depression should display a stronger relationship with memory complaints then factors based on test-items that assessed the other DSM-IV characteristics of depression.

- #4. It is hypothesized that the depressed elderly will have a lower mean number of words that enter long-term memory (i.e., LTS) and a lower mean number of words that are consistently recalled from long-term memory (i.e., CR) then will be found in the non-depressed elderly. In addition, it is expected that a negative relationship will exist between the presence of depressive symptoms (i.e., DEP factor) and these two measures of memory. This means that as the depression score from the three depression measures increases in severity, there will be a corresponding decrease in words entered into long-term memory (i.e., LTS) and words consistently recalled from long-term memory (i.e., CR).
- #5. It is also hypothesized that as memory complaints increase, there will be a corresponding decrease in the words consistently recalled on the SRT (i.e., CR) and an increase in the words randomly recalled (i.e., RR). It is also hypothesized that these correlations will be greater than the correlation between memory complaints and total recall scores (i.e., SUM).
- #6. It is hypothesized that a positive relationship exists between memory complaints and syndromal depression. Consequently, it is expected that memory complaints will increase in frequency as depressive symptoms increase (i.e., DEP factor). This hypothesis serves as a replication of previous studies that have examined this topic.

METHOD

Participants

The participants (N = 208) were community-dwelling elderly recruited through newspaper and radio ads, circulars, and presentations at local senior citizen centers. Each participant was offered a free assessment of their mood and memory. Nondepressed elderly were considered those with an absence of syndromal depression and an unimpaired cognitive status (n = 131). Depressed elderly were considered those with syndromal depression and an unimpaired cognitive status (n = 77). The absence of syndromal depression was considered a score of less than 10 on the Beck Depression Inventory (i.e., BDI;)and less than 11 on the Geriatric Depression Scale (i.e., GDS;) and Hamilton Depression Scale (i.e., <u>HAM</u>;). The presence of syndromal depression was considered a score equal to or greater than 10 on the BDI or equal to or greater than 11 on the GDS or HAM. An unimpaired cognitive status (i.e., >23 on the MMSE; Mini-Mental State Examination) was required of all participants due to the influence that dementia and pseudodementia can have on memory recall and potentially on memory complaints. These cut-off scores were based on previously reported scoring guidelines for the BDI (Beck, Ward, Mendelson, Mock, & Erbaugh, 1961), GDS (Yesavage et al., 1983; Alden, Austin, & Sturgeon, 1989), HAM (Yesavage et al., 1983; Marks-Cash, 1992), and MMSE (Tombaugh & McIntyre, 1992).

Test Instruments for Severity of Depression

Since multiple measures of depression can more fully capture any depressive symptomatology being experienced by the participants (Kendall, Hollon, Beck, Hammen,

& Ingram, 1987), three instruments were chosen. The first instrument was an observer-rating scale, the HAM (Hamilton, 1960). The remaining two, the BDI (Beck et al., 1961) and the GDS (Yesavage et al., 1983), were self-report measures. Together, these three measures more fully address the DSM-IV criteria for depression and criteria characteristic of depression in the elderly population (Weiss, Nagel, & Aronson, 1986).

Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression

The HAM used for this study was a 23-item version of the original 17-item scale. Since all of the test items in the original 17-item version are contained in the 23-item scale and no psychometric information was available for the 23-item version, the following psychometric information represents the findings from the original 17-item test. Although the HAM was originally designed to measure the severity of depression in individuals already diagnosed depressed, since its inception it has been extensively used to assess depressive symptoms in other populations as well (Hedlund & Vieweg, 1979). Test-retest reliability coefficients for the HAM ranged from .61 (Mean interval = 15 days; Lyons, Strain, Hammer, Ackerman, & Fulop, 1989) to .70 (3 week interval; Maier, 1990) while Cronbach's (1951) alpha was .76 (Rehm & O'Hara, 1985). Sensitivity to change, which is a scale's ability to detect changes (e.g., in depressive symptoms) in individuals across time, was .65 (3 week interval) for the HAM (Maier, 1990). Correlations of the HAM and psychiatrist's ratings of global severity of depressed patients ranged from a mean of .88 (range = .84 to .90) for three studies reviewed by Hedlund and Vieweg (1979) to .67 (Maier, 1990).

Stukenberg, Dura, and Kiecolt-Glaser (1990) observed that the area under the ROC (i.e., Receiver Operating Characteristics) curve, which represents the probability of a measure correctly categorizing subjects (e.g., depressed versus nondepressed), was .85. In a sample of psychiatric inpatients (Lichtenberg, Steiner, Marcopulos, & Tabscott, 1992), the HAM's sensitivity and specificity was 9% and 92%, respectively. These indices were determined by comparing those subjects who fell above and below a cut-off criterion. Sensitivity is the proportion of individuals correctly diagnosed depressed (i.e., proportion of true positives) while specificity is the proportion of individuals correctly diagnosed affectively healthy (i.e., proportion of true negatives; Masur et al. 1989). The authors mentioned that the low sensitivity of 9% is at odds with the high correlations of HAM ratings and DSM-III-R diagnoses reported in the literature and suggested that it may have been due to their study's large number of demented subjects. This may have been the case since in the only other study that has apparently examined these criteria, a sensitivity of 86% and a specificity of 80% was obtained with a cut-off score of 11 (Brink, Yesavage, Lum, Heeresema, Adey, & Rose, 1982).

Concurrent validity for the HAM was determined based on its correlation with other measures of depression. The HAM had an average correlation of .77 (range = .73 to .80) with the BDI across two studies that examined nonpsychiatric samples (Beck, Steer, & Garbin, 1988). This correlation with the BDI was lower, however, in a sample of mixed psychiatric and medical inpatients ($\underline{r} = .52$; Fitzgibbon, Cella, & Sweeney, 1988) and across seven studies assessing psychiatric inpatients ($\underline{r}_{\underline{avg}} = .58$; range = .31 to .82; Hedlund & Vieweg, 1979). The HAM also had a correlation of .60 with the Brief

Symptom Inventory Depression scale (Derogatis & Spencer, 1982) in a sample of community-dwelling elderly (Stukenberg, Dura, & Kiecolt-Glaser, 1990). In a review of seven factor analyses, Hedlund and Vieweg (1979) concluded that the first of two factors generally evident across the studies appeared to measure the severity of depressive symptoms. However, in a more recent study, O'Brien and Glaudin (1988) observed four factors that they labeled somatic complaints, anorexia, sleep disturbance, and agitation/retardation. The 23-item version of the HAM that will be used for the present study has a scoring range of 0 to 75. Zero denotes a lack of depressive symptoms while 75 suggests severe depression.

Beck Depression Inventory

The BDI is a 21-item, multiple-choice inventory that rates the intensity of depressive symptoms, especially those of a somatic nature. Based on a psychometric review of the BDI (Beck, Steer, and Garbin, 1988), Cronbach's (1951) alpha had a mean of .81 (range = .73 to .92) based on 15 samples of nonpsychiatric subjects while test-retest reliability coefficients had a mean of .74 (7 days to 4 month interval; range = .60 to .90) based on 5 samples of nonpsychiatric subjects. Correlations of the BDI and clinical ratings of depression for three samples of nonpsychiatric patients, had a mean of .60 (range = .55 to .73). The concurrent validity of the BDI, when correlated with the GDS, was .85 with medical outpatients (Norris, Gallagher, Wilson, & Winograd, 1987). The value with the HAM across two nonpsychiatric samples, however, was slightly lower (r_{avg} = .77, range = .73 to .80; Beck et al., 1988). In a review by Beck et al. (1988), the authors concluded that the more recent factor studies suggest one depressive factor which measures

depressive severity. Scores on the BDI can range from 0, which indicates that depressive statements were not endorsed, to a maximum value of 36 which indicates severe depression.

Geriatric Depression Scale

The GDS is composed of 30 yes-no questions that primarily examine mood and psychological symptoms. Test-retest reliability coefficients of .98 (Mean interval = 15 days; Lyons, Strain, Hammer, Ackerman, & Fulop, 1989) and .85 (1 month interval; Parmalee, Lawton, & Katz, 1989) have been reported. The mean value for Cronbach's (1951) alpha was .91 based on studies by Yesavage et al. (r = .94; 1983), Parmalee et al. (r = .91; 1989), and Salamero and Marcos (r = .87, 1992). A study by Harper, Kotik-Harper, and Kirby (1990) yielded a sensitivity of 85% for the GDS in a sample of depressed elderly, while in a study by Koenig, Meador, Cohen, and Blazer (1988), a sensitivity of 92% and a specificity of 89% were obtained. Concurrent validities of .62 and .81 were obtained when the GDS was correlated with the HAM at two different assessment periods with medical inpatients (Lyons, Strain, Hammer, Ackerman, & Fulop, 1989). This value was slightly higher ($\underline{r} = .83$) when medical outpatients were assessed (Norris, Gallagher, Wilson, & Winograd, 1987). Correlations were also slightly higher between the GDS and BDI ($\underline{r} = .85$; Norris et al., 1987). Two factor analyses of the GDS found six (Parmalee et al., 1989) and nine-factor (Salamero & Marcos, 1992) solutions although both studies mentioned that the GDS was unidimensional (i.e., general depression factor) based on Cattell's (1966) scree criterion. Scores on the GDS can range from a score of 0, which indicates that no depressive statements were endorsed, to a maximum value of 30 which indicates severe depression.

Test Instrument for Explicit Memory

The Selective Reminding Test (SRT, Buschke, 1973), served as the word list task (Appendix D). Words were presented orally at a rate of one word every two seconds. Test-retest reliability has been found to range from .73 (6 month interval; Ruff, Ouavhagen, & Light, 1988) to .89 (2 hour interval; Masur et al., 1989). In a study by Masur et al. (1989), the SRT displayed a sensitivity and specificity in the detection of patients with mild Alzheimer's disease of 86 and 99%, respectively. However, in a second study (Masur et al., 1990) with patients diagnosed with dementia based on DSM-III-R criteria, the SRT obtained a sensitivity of 47% and a specificity of 86%. Total recall scores (i.e., SUM) were based on the sum of words recalled across 6 trials and could range from 0 to a maximum value of 72. The higher the number, the more words were recalled by the participant across the trials. Retrieval consistency (i.e., CR) represented the total number of events across a word list task in which words were recalled on two consecutive trials from long-term memory. The higher the number, the greater the consistency of recall. Random retrieval (i.e., RR) was based on the number of words recalled from long-term memory that were not recalled on two consecutive trials. For CR and RR, the higher the number, the greater the consistency or randomness of recall, respectively.

Test Instrument for Memory Complaints

To provide a measure of subjective memory complaints, participants were asked to identify the areas in which they were having memory problems. This could be problems with remembering (a) names, (b) faces, (c) the date, month, or year, (d) appointments, (e) where objects were placed, (f) what they went into a room to do/get, (g) taking their medication, or (h) other problem areas not mentioned. The test-retest reliability coefficient for this questionnaire was .66 (time interval 3 months). These coefficients were based on 51 control subjects who were assessed on this instrument as part of a larger study. This measure could range from 0, indicating a lack of memory problems, to a maximum value of 8 problem areas.

Test Instrument for Mental Status

The MMSE (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975) is a 30-item form that assessed the presence of cognitive impairment (i.e., mental status). This screening test provided a brief measure of orientation, registration, attention and calculation, recall, and language. Based on a review of the MMSE by Tombaugh and McIntyre (1992), the mean coefficient alpha across five studies was .72 (range = .54 to .96) while the mean stability coefficient across 25 samples was .82 (time interval 1 day to 2 months; range = .80 to .97). The sensitivity of the MMSE across 27 samples that examined demented subjects had a mean value of .79 (range = .20 to 1.00) while the specificity across 21 samples had a mean value of .83 (range = .46 to 1.00). Construct validity, based on 14 studies between the MMSE and other cognitive status measures, ranged from .70 to .90. Scores could range from a

low of 0, indicating severe impairment, to a maximum value of 30, indicating an unimpaired mental status.

Procedure

Subjects were assessed on the three depression scales, the Selective Reminding

Test, the memory complaints questionnaire, and the MMSE. Testing was done by

clinicians enrolled in a doctoral level clinical psychology program all of whom had prior

training and practice in assessment. Seven to 10 hours of additional training were given to

each of the clinicians in administering and scoring the tests. During their training phase,

each clinician observed an assessment by another clinician with at least 1 year experience

and was then observed by the same clinician during their first testing session.

Furthermore, all tests were re-scored by the author to ensure accuracy. Also, in order to

reduce subjectivity in selecting the variables to compose each of the factors examined in

this study (Ford, MacCallum, & Tait, 1986), three advanced-level clinicians individually

provided a summary of test items from the three depression inventories that assessed each

of the nine DSM-IV criteria for depression. Only test items identified by all three

clinicians for each factor were retained for subsequent analyses.

RESULTS

The first hypothesis examined the relationship between memory complaints and the somatic and cognitive components of syndromal depression. Three advanced-level clinicians identified 16 test items from the HAM, BDI, and GDS that assessed somatic characteristics of depression and 48 test items that assessed cognitive aspects of depression. The somatic test items were considered those that focused on weight or

appetite fluctuations, sleep problems, psychomotor disturbances, or feelings of fatigue. The cognitive test items were those that identified a depressed mood, attenuated interests or pleasures, feelings of worthlessness/guilt, concentration difficulties/indecisiveness, or thoughts of death/suicide. Construct validity of these two factors was then empirically tested with a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA; Hunter & Cohen, 1969). Initially, the CFA was examined for the presence of any test items which had negative loadings on their respective factor. It was assumed that test items exhibiting a negative factor loading were measuring something different from either the somatic or cognitive depression construct being assessed by the other test items. Although none of the test items had negative factor loadings, several test items exhibited minimal factor loadings. In order to exclude these peripheral test items and retain those that appeared central in defining the two constructs, only test items with factor loadings of .40 or greater were retained (Cohen & Cohen, 1983; Ford et al., 1986). This resulted in 10 variables for the somatic factor and 32 variables for the cognitive depression factor. Reliability of these revised factors was then assessed using Cronbach's (1951) alpha. The resulting internal consistency was .76 for the somatic factor and .93 for the cognitive factor. In summary, it appears that the two revised factors had adequate validity and reliability with which to test this hypothesis.

Next, the relationship between these factors and the number of memory complaints was determined and expressed as Pearson product moment correlations. In addition, these correlations were corrected for attenuation to take into account the effects of measurement error (Hunter, 1990; Hunter, 1993a). It was hypothesized that the somatic factor would have a larger positive correlation with memory complaints than the cognitive

factor. However, both correlations while significant (p<.05), were essentially the same (somatic \underline{r} = .36; cognitive \underline{r} = .32, \underline{df} = 207) and this hypothesis was rejected. A listing of the 95% confidence intervals (Hunter, 1993b) for these and subsequent analyses can be found in Table 18.

The analyses for the second and third hypotheses were combined since both involved examining the relationship between memory complaints and factors representing the nine DSM-IV symptoms of depression. The advanced level clinicians identified test items in the HAM, BDI, and GDS that assessed depressed mood (17 test items), attenuated interests or pleasures (11 test items); weight or appetite fluctuations (4 test items), sleep problems (4 test items), psychomotor disturbances (3 test items), fatigue (5 test items), feelings of worthlessness/guilt (10 test items), concentration difficulties/indecisiveness (7 test items), and thoughts of death/suicide (3 test items). Construct validity of these nine depression constructs was then assessed with a CFA. The initial CFA did not indicate any negative factor loadings for each of the factor's respective test items, however, some test items displayed minimal-sized factor loadings (i.e., <.40) and were removed. This resulted in 13 test items for depressed mood, 10 test items for attenuated interests or pleasures, 4 test items for weight/appetite fluctuations, 4 test items for sleep problems, 5 test items for fatigue, 8 test items for feelings of worthlessness/guilt. 5 test items for concentration difficulties/indecisiveness, and 2 test items for thoughts of death/suicide. The factor assessing psychomotor disturbances was removed entirely due to factor loadings that ranged from .17 to .35. Reliability of the revised constructs was

Table 1

Depression Factors: Consistency/Correlations with Memory Complaints

<u>N</u> = 208	Coeff. Alpha	<u>r</u>	p
Depressed mood	.88	.25	.0002
Interests/pleasure	.79	.42	.0002
Weight/appetite	.58	.03	n.s.
Sleep problems	.71	.42	.0002
Fatigue	.73	.34	.0002
Worthlessness/guilt	.82	.21	.0012
Concentration/indec.	.67	.70	.0002
Death/suicide	.82	.18	.0045

then assessed and can be found in Table 1. In summary, it appears that there is adequate validity and reliability with which to test these hypotheses.

Next, the relationship between these depression factors and the frequency of memory complaints was determined and expressed as correlations that had been corrected for attenuation (Table 1). The second hypothesis examined the possibility that the frequency of memory complaints would exhibit the strongest relationship with the feelings of worthlessness/guilt factor while the third hypothesis suggested that this relationship would occur with the concentration difficulties/indecisiveness factor. Analyses indicated that the second hypothesis should be rejected while the third hypothesis should be accepted. The construct of diminished concentration and indecisiveness displayed the strongest relationship with memory complaints ($\underline{r} = .70$, $\underline{p} < .0002$, $\underline{df} = 207$) and was also significantly larger ($\underline{p} < .005$) than the other correlations. This correlation means that an increase in perceived concentration difficulties and indecisiveness was associated with a greater number of perceived memory problems.

The fourth hypothesis expected that the depressed elderly would have a lower mean number of words that entered (i.e., LTS) long-term memory and were consistently recalled (i.e., CR) from long-term memory when compared with the nondepressed group. Results indicated that the depressed participants exhibited this pattern (Table 2). It was also hypothesized that a significant negative relationship would exist between the amount of depressive symptoms (i.e., DEP) and these two measures of memory. Since the amount of depressive symptoms was based on the total score across three different depression measures with different scoring ranges, the participant's depression scores were first

transformed into z-scores and summed to produce a composite depression index (i.e., DEP). For this index, a larger score signified a greater degree of syndromal depression. Analyses of these relationships also proved to be significant (LTS & DEP $\underline{r} = -.20$, $\underline{p} < .0019$, $\underline{df} = 207$; CR & DEP $\underline{r} = -.20$, $\underline{p} < .0019$, $\underline{df} = 207$). Consequently, the fourth hypothesis was accepted.

Table 2

Recall in Depressed versus Nondepressed Elderly

	Depr	ressed	Nondep	ressed		
	<u>n</u> :	= 77	<u>n</u> = 1	<u>n</u> = 131		
	LTS	CR	LTS	CR		
<u>M</u>	21.6	12.9	25.4	15.6		
<u>SD</u>	17.0	12.0	16.8	11.9		

The fifth hypothesis examined the possibility that as memory complaints increased, there would be a corresponding decrease in the words consistently recalled (i.e., CR) and an increase in the words randomly recalled (i.e., RR) from long term memory. It was also hypothesized that these relationships would be larger than the one between memory complaints and total recall scores (i.e., SUM). However since the meta-analyses indicated

that the presence of syndromal depression might affect this relationship, these analyses were carried out separately for the depressed and nondepressed groups. Results indicated that while the correlations were somewhat different for those with ($CR \ \underline{r} = .02$; $RR \ \underline{r} = .07$; $SUM \ \underline{r} = .06$, $\underline{df} = 76$) and without ($CR \ \underline{r} = .04$; $RR \ \underline{r} = .16$; $SUM \ \underline{r} = .09$, $\underline{df} = 130$) syndromal depression, only RR was significantly associated with memory complaints ($\underline{p} < .05$) in the nondepressed group. This correlation implies that as memory complaints increased, there was an increase in random recall from long-term memory. Also, correlations for RR and SUM were not significantly different. Hence, the fifth hypothesis was only partially accepted. The final hypothesis suggested that there would be a positive relationship between memory complaints and syndromal depression. A correlation analysis that had been corrected for attenuation yielded a correlation of .37 ($\underline{p} < .0002$) when this relationship was examined. Consequently, this hypothesis was accepted.

DISCUSSION

The observation that the frequency of memory complaints was significantly related to the severity of syndromal depression replicated previous studies that have examined this relationship. However, the examination of the DSM-IV symptoms underlying syndromal depression has also led to an understanding of the symptom primarily responsible for this relationship within our sample. By far the strongest relationship was exhibited between the number of memory complaints and the degree of perceived concentration difficulties and/or indecisiveness. Here, concentration refers to an effortful and heightened state of attention in which only relevant stimuli are left in conscious awareness (Russell, 1975). Consequently, concentration refers to a certain combination of the three subcomponents

that encompass the construct of attention (i.e., alertness, capacity, and selection). Alertness is considered one's level of general preparedness to act upon a stimulus. This stimulus could be within one's self (i.e., internal) or within one's environment (i.e., external). Alertness can fluctuate along a continuum over the course of a day. One pole on the continuum would reflect nonresponsiveness (e.g., comatose state) while the opposite end would describe a maximal degree of awareness and response speed to a stimulus. Capacity deals with the degree of conscious effort that is used in attending to a task. Attentional capacity has been shown to be finite and susceptible to diurnal variation. Although, we have a limited attentional capacity, this can be circumvented to a certain extent by increasing the amount of information that is processed automatically. Many automatic processes can occur concurrently and only minimally affect the overall supply of attentional capacity. Automatic processes refer to behaviors that have been practiced extensively over a period of time, that are performed habitually, and do not require conscious attention (e.g., tying your shoes). Selection refers to the specific allocation of attentional resources for single or multiple stimuli and can be directed internally and/or externally (Nissen, 1986).

Intuitively, this relationship between memory complaints and disturbances in concentration/indecisiveness makes sense. If one does not possess a certain level of concentration, information in the environment will not be sufficiently attended to. This will result in minimal information being obtained and encoded from our sensory organs into memory (Nissen, 1986). For instance, recall of information from the Selective Reminding Test would be influenced by the amount of concentration that was allocated or

available during the test. If one does not have sufficient levels of attention (i.e., concentration), recall of test words will be poor.

Indecisiveness, which is grouped by the DSM-IV along with concentration disturbances, could be considered an effect of concentration difficulties. Indecisiveness refers to an inability to make a decision. One reason for indecision may be that there are insufficient attentional resources to generate the level of concentration required for a particular problem. Without sufficient resources, one would be limited in the extent that viable alternatives could be examined, compared, and selected. This could result in a person who vacillates between choices or hesitates to choose.

This description of concentration could be used to demonstrate how each of the DSM-IV symptoms of depression could potentially exhibit a strong, although indirect, relationship with memory complaints due to their effects on a person's attentional resources. For example, Hanninen et al. (1994) concluded that memory complaints were associated with somatic complaints. It may be that those who have somatic ailments predominately focus their attention/concentration internally on their physical state rather than externally on their environment. Also, their physical condition may leave them fatigued. Consequently, lower levels of concentration and attention may be available to encode external environmental stimuli. Such a hypothesis of attention has also been proposed by Nideffer (1986) within the field of sports psychology. Nideffer contends that if one has too broad a focus on internal stimuli (e.g., focusing on your own actions/tactics) then less resources are available to focus broadly on external stimuli (e.g., the opposing team). This could result in losing a sports match despite being in better shape or having

superior game strategies than the opposing team. If Hanninen et al. (1994) had participants who had more of a internal focus due to their somatic difficulties, less attentional capacity would be available to be focused externally. If this results in poor levels of concentration, then as Nissen (1986) pointed out, poorer encoding and recall of external information will result. Unfortunately, neither Hanninen et al. (1994) nor the present study included measures of attention and concentration to test this explanation.

This line of logic could also be used to explain how worthlessness could be associated with memory complaints. Beck (1967) theorized that depression is characterized by a negative view of the self, world, and future and that these views become perpetuated and amplified leading to a "downward spiral of depression." As a person becomes more depressed, thoughts of worthlessness (i.e., the self) may be focused on to a greater extent. This would result in greater attentional resources being allocated for a narrow, internal focus. Consequently, there should be a corresponding decrease in the ability to concentrate on and recall external stimuli.

Another interesting finding was that even with a total of 74 test items from the three depression inventories, only 2 test items loaded adequately on the factor that assessed thoughts of death/suicide and only 5 test items on the factors that measured sleep problems and fatigue. In addition, the factor of psychomotor disturbances was removed due to a lack of variables with a sufficient factor loading. Part of this is undoubtedly a result of the focus on cognitive aspects of depression in the Geriatric Depression Scale. Yesavage et al. (1983) points out that this measure was formulated in an attempt to decrease the rate of false positive in those mildly depressed elderly who are screened for

depression. It appears that due to the higher base rates of somatic symptoms among the elderly, they are often incorrectly considered depressed or considered more depressed then is actually the case. However, Yesavage et al. (1983) also states that somatic symptoms are clearly a part of major depression disorders. It would seem advisable then to have a depression inventory that would adequately assess the presence of all the DSM-IV symptoms of depression and then take age into account when determining the presence or severity of syndromal depression. Without such test items to adequately assess these constructs, false negatives will occur (i.e., depressed individuals who are not considered depressed).

It was also mentioned that only two test items loaded on the death/suicide factor. Particularly since these test items did not have perfect reliability, it would seem advisable for more test items to be donated to assessing this construct. While Yesavage et al. (1983) contends that thoughts of death and suicide may mean something different to the elderly than for those who are younger, the identification of the existence of such thoughts is important since one of the most serious expressions of depression is suicide. Also, given the likelihood that most people are only exposed to self-report instruments for assessing depression (e.g., talk shows, magazines, National Depression Screening Day) rather than a clinical interview, more comprehensive inventories appear to be needed. For instance, in October of each year, a National Depression Screening Day is conducted. At sites all over the country (e.g., schools, shopping malls), mass assessments are performed with a self-report measure of depression. A useful purpose of such a screening would be

to identify those who are potentially likely to commit suicide. However, with our current measures many of these people may not be identified and helped.

Another of the hypotheses examined the notion that depressed elderly would have a greater difficulty encoding and consistently retrieving words from long-term memory. Although this hypothesis was confirmed, the significant correlation was only - 20. One possibility for this small relationship is that this sample may have had enough automatic processes at their disposal to attenuate some of the effects of their depression on their long-term memory abilities. Another possibility is that our sample of elderly were only mildly depressed (BDI $\underline{M} = 13$; GDS $\underline{M} = 13$; HAM $\underline{M} = 10$). If encoding and retrieval processes are impacted by the severity of syndromal depression, it may be that greater levels of syndromal depression are required to demonstrate a larger relationship. Furthermore, if the relationship between depression and memory recall is mediated through insufficient concentration resources, it may be that concentration levels were only mildly compromised in our sample. However, it should also be kept in mind that a correlational relationship does not imply causality.

It was also observed that memory complaints were significantly related to random word recall but not total recall within the nondepressed group. Since other studies that have examined this relationship have only measured total recall, this may be the reason for the low correlations that have been previously cited in the literature. Also, since the relationship was only significant in the nondepressed group, it may be that syndromal depression adversely impacts the metamemory abilities of the elderly. This could then provide an explanation for the lack of relationship between memory performance and

memory complaints observed in those suffering from depression. Another related question concerns why this relationship was not stronger. One reason may be that only a laboratory measure of verbal recall (i.e., SRT) was used in the present study. Here a laboratory measure indicates an assortment of words that are not related to each other and often have a low frequency of use in the general population. An alternative to a laboratory measure of verbal recall is an everyday measure. An everyday measure of memory would be tests that use words that have some commonality between them such as words that would be found on a shopping list. Recall of a short story would be another example of an everyday memory measure. It may be that memory complaints are more related to how participants feel about their everyday memory. This was the concept behind the creation of the Rivermead Behavioral Memory Test (Wilson, Cockburn, Baddeley, & Hiorns, 1989) which measures an assortment of memory variables couched in everyday situations. Another reason for this small relationship may be that memory complaints in this study were based on the occurrence of memory problems in several general areas. It may be that memory complaints are primarily associated with random recall within specific subdivisions of memory. For instance, memory complaints for remembering faces or where you put things may primarily correlate with random recall scores on spatial memory tasks. Remembering whether you took your medication may relate more to your level of attentional ability at the time. A further possibility has to due with restriction of range for the memory complaint variable ($\underline{M} = 2$, $\underline{SD} = 2$). Possibly there was insufficient breadth to the memory questionnaire to adequately resolve the relationships that were there.

Suggestions for Future Research

Ideally, future research should consider seven components when designing studies that examine the relationship between memory complaints, depression, and memory recall. The first component is sample composition. In addition to including depressed and nondepressed elderly, participants should demonstrate a broader range of symptom severity (i.e., mild to severe). The sample should also include those who meet, and fail to meet, the DSM-IV criteria for major depression. The inclusion of symptom severity and depression diagnosis could help elucidate which variables are involved in this interrelationship. Secondly, although recognizing the limitations of our current attentional/concentration measures (Schmidt, Trueblood, Merwin, & Durham, 1994), instruments based on cognitive models of attention should be included in future designs. Such measures could provide the link that is needed between theory and clinical practice. It may also be beneficial for these instruments to employ stimuli having verbal characteristics as opposed to those using numerals or symbols. Using stimuli similar to those contained in the memory tests may allow a more accurate measure of the attention and concentration resources available for verbal recall. For instance, if subjects have more extensive experience in attending to verbal stimuli, more automatic attentional processes may be able to be employed then would exist for attending to numerical stimuli.

Third, memory tests should assess both verbal and spatial memory. If memory complaints are specific to a certain type of memory deficit, limiting memory measures to verbal recall may mask the existence of potential relationships. Since verbal and spatial memory represent two major subdivisions of memory, these should provide an adequate

assessment of any such relationships. It may be that problems with remembering faces may only relate to spatial measures of memory while difficulties in remembering names may be confined to disturbances with verbal memory. The fourth component deals with the type of memory recall stimuli used. If memory complaints primarily relate to memory difficulties encountered outside a laboratory, objective memory performances that more closely mirror everyday memory situations may be required to reveal such a relationship. The inclusion of memory tests to assess verbal memory with either "laboratory" or "everyday" characteristics should help determine if this is true. Consequently, the assessment of verbal memory should include tests that assess recall of words, sentences, and paragraphs. In addition, these should be separately presented as visual or oral stimuli. This could help determine if the sensory modalities are differentially susceptible to certain memory difficulties. Also, the inclusion of both visual and oral modalities takes into account the two primary mechanisms by which information is obtained from the environment. For example, a visual presentation of stimuli would mirror information obtained by reading a newspaper or shopping list while an oral presentation would mimic information that could be obtained through a radio or television program. Spatial memory should be assessed by a laboratory measure that is primarily free of verbal encoding, such as the Complex Figure Test (Osterrieth, 1944). This restricts memory processes to those of a spatial nature rather than allowing the simultaneous encorporation of verbal memory processes. For everyday measures, spatial memory tests could be used that assess recall of faces or directions on a map.

Fifth, a memory complaints inventory should be used that allows the adequate discrimination of the type, frequency, quality, and degree of memory difficulties. It may be that if the memory questionnaire is too general or only examines the frequency of memory problems, potential interrelationships with memory recall and depression may be masked. Sixth, if this data could be collected over multiple time periods, causal relationships between the variables could be tested. Seventh, if such a study is formulated that includes these components, a correlational analysis would probably be advisable. This would allow a determination of any relationships, as well as, causal processes without losing significant amounts of power through the grouping of individuals by condition as is required with such statistics as an ANOVA.

APPENDIX A

-

APPENDIX A

Characteristics of the Meta-Analyses

Medline and Psychlit were searched for relevant articles published between 1979 and 1994 that dealt with depression or memory complaints and between 1983 and 1994 for articles that dealt with dementia. Relevancy was based on the following criteria: (a) the sample needed to include elderly subjects (i.e., 55 years of age or older), (b) subjects had to be assessed for dementia, depression, depressive symptomatology, or memory complaints (c) the article had to be published in English, and (d) explicit memory had to be assessed by either a word list or prose task. Relevant studies cited in the articles obtained through Medline and Psychlit were also acquired. For each of the studies obtained, the point biserial correlation (r) was calculated and used as a measure of treatment effect (Hunter & Schmidt, 1990). This correlation describes the degree of relationship that exists between the group (e.g., demented or control) and the level of explicit memory ability (e.g., total recall score). The overall results of the r statistic was expressed as a weighted average and weighted standard deviation. These measures were used to take into account the variation in sample size across the studies.

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX B

List of Tables

Table 3

Long-Term Memory and Dementia

Author(s)		Demen	ted		Contro	1		
	<u>n</u>	M	SD	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u>	I
1. Gibson ((1981))						
	20	16.20	5.65	20	34.70	6.63	40	84
Dementia Measure:			Not me	entione	i			
Memory	Meas	sure:	10-iten each	n Miller	's word	list, total	recall score;	7 lists,1 trial
Dementi	a Sam	ple:	Inpatie	nt/Outp	atient el	lderly diag	nosed with	dementia
2. Weingar	tner,		ı, Boutell 20	•	-	• •		07
D	•	4.00		8	7.30	.00	16	97
Dementi			- 100	entioned	_		· • • • • •	1 9
Memory	Meas	sure:	5 trials		ike Sele	ctive Kem	inding Test,	total recall score,
Dementi	a Sam	ple:	Elderly	patient	ts diagno	osed with	dementia, A	lzheimer's type
3. Breen, I	arson	, Reifler	, Vitaliar	no, & La	awrence	(1984)	21	11
Dementi	a Mea	sure:	DSM-I Scale	III diag	nosis; M	ini Menta	l State Exam	n; Dementia Rating
Memory	Meas	ure:	Logica	l Memo	ry Form	ı I		
Dementi	a Sam	ple:		unity dy mer's ty	_	elderly dia	gnosed with	dementia,

Dementia Sample:

dementia

4. Larrabee, Largen, & Levin (1985) #1 2.81 2.18 25 7.56 -.67 16 3.14 41 47 -.87 #2 22 45 95 13.88 25 101.44 18.09 Dementia Measure: Research Diagnostic Criteria diagnosis; Blessed Dementia Scale Logical Memory Form I (#1); Selective Reminding Test, total Memory Measure: recall score, number of items and trials not mentioned (#2) Elderly patients diagnosed with dementia, Alzheimer's type Dementia Sample: 5. Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Hamer (1987) 15 43.7 9.3 16 83.6 12.4 31 -.88 Dementia Measure: Neurologist, Psychiatrist, and Neuropsychologist rating; Clinical Dementia Rating Scale; Global Deterioration Scale 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total recall score, Memory Measure: 10 trials Dementia Sample: Outpatient elderly diagnosed with mild dementia, Alzheimer's type 6. Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Harkins (1987) 8.10 30 -.97 14 1.10 16 17.70 1.40 Dementia Measure: Diagnostic Interview Schedule; Clinical Dementia Rating Scale; Global Deterioration Scale Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I Dementia Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed with dementia, Alzheimer's type 7. Storandt, Botwinick, & Danziger (1987) 22 2.30 2.10 39 9.10 2.10 61 -.86 Dementia Measures: Structured Interview; Dementia Scale; Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire; Face-Hand Test; Clinical Dementia **Rating Scale** Logical Memory Form I Memory Measure: Dementia Sample: Community dwelling elderly diagnosed with mild dementia, Alzheimer's type 8. Niederehe & Yoder (1989) #1 10 7.15 8.83 22 18.43 6.67 32 -.65 #2 10 6.75 6.79 22 18.55 4.86 32 -.77 Dementia Measure: Mental Status Questionnaire; Face-Hand Test Memory Measure: 40-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial (#1); paragraph recall (#2)

Outpatient/Community dwelling elderly diagnosed with

9. Poitrenaud, Moy, Girousse, Wolmark, & Piette (1989)

14.42 4.12 33 19.03 4.31 #1 26 59 -.49 #2 17 9.47 3.97 33 19.03 4.31 50 -.78

Dementia Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Mini Mental State Examination Memory Measure: McCarthy's shopping list task, total recall score, 1 trial

Dementia Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed with mild (1#) or moderate-severe

(#2) dementia, Alzheimer's type

10. Masur, Fuld, Blau, Crystal, & Aronson (1990)

36 31.10 11.10 386 40.10 10.80 422 -.59

Dementia Measure: DSM-III-R diagnosis; Blessed Mental Status Test
Memory Measure: 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total recall score,

6 trials

Dementia Sample: Community dwelling elderly diagnosed with dementia

11. Speedie, Rabins, Pearlson, & Moberg (1990)

22 3.47 2.13 17 6.23 1.3 39 -.40

Dementia Measure: Mini Mental State Examination

Memory Measure: 10-item Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, total recall score,

number of trials varied

Dementia Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed with dementia

12. Feehan, Knight, & Partridge (1991)

10 3.00 1.86 10 6.30 2.38 20 -.63

Dementia Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Hachinski Ischemic Scale, Mini Mental

State Examination

Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I

Dementia Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed with dementia, Alzheimer's type

13. King, Caine, Conwell, & Cox (1991)

20 3.60 2.10 23 7.50 1.40 43 -.75

Dementia Measure: National Institute of Neurological and Communicative

Disorders and Stroke-Alzheimer's Disease and Related

Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA): Mini Mental State

Examination

Memory Measure: Caine's 10-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial

Dementia Sample: Outpatient elderly diagnosed with dementia, Alzheimer's type

14. Lines	, et al. ((1991)							
	8	4.40	1.30	8	8.10	.70	16	- .98	
Dementia Measure:		NINCDS-ADRDA; Clinical Dementia Rating Scale; Mini Mental State Examination							
Memory Measure:		10-item	Paivio	's word	list total r	ecall score, 1	trial		
Dementia Sample:			Commu Alzhein	•	_	lderly dia	gnosed with	mild dementia,	
15. Rubir	ı, Kinsc	herf, Gra	ant, & Sto	orandt	(1991)				
#1 41 4.70			2.10	83	9.00	2.50	124	69	
#2	66	1.70	1.80	83	9.00	2.50	149	86	
Demen			Scale; N	/lental	Status C	uestionna		nentia Rating	
	Memory Measure:			Logical Memory Form I					
Dementia Sample:			•	_	sed with neimer's	•	d (#1) or mo	derate (#2)	
16. Robin	ison-W	heelen, 8	Storand	t (1992	2)				
	51	·		64	•		115	62	
Demen	tia Mea	sure:	Clinical Dementia Rating Scale						
Memor	y Meas	ure:	Logical	Memo	ry Form	1			
Dementia Sample:			Commu dementi	-	welling e	lderly dia	gnosed with	very mild	
17. Flicke	er, Ferri	is, & Rei	sberg (19	93)					
#1a	47	3.20	.30	50	8.80	.50	97	99	
#2a	39	1.20	.20	50	8.80	.50	89	-1.00	
#1 b	47	18.10	1.20	50	38.30	1.30	97	99	
#2b	39	6.50	1.00	50	38.30	1.30	89	-1.00	
Demen	tia Mea	sure:	Reisber	g's Glo	bal Dete	rioration	Scale		
Memor	y Meas	sure:	Guild p	aragraj	oh recall		em McCarthy	y's shopping	
Dementia Sample:		Elderly	patient	s diagno		early ($\underline{n} = 47$;#1) or advanced		

Summary:

Table 4

Consistent Long-Term Memory and Dementia

Author(s)		Dement	<u>ed</u>		Control	<u>)l</u>				
	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u>	Ţ		
1. Larrabee	e, Lar	gen, & L	evin (198	35)						
		2.41	4.5 6	25	63.00	33.58	47	78		
Dementia Measure:			Researe Scale	ch Diag	nostic C	riteria diag	gnosis; Bless	sed Dementia		
Memory Measure:					_	•	tent long tennot mention	rm retrieval ned		
Dementia Sample:			Elderly	patient	s diagno	sed with d	ementia, Al	zheimer's type		
		_	_		_		•			
2. Masur, l	Fuld, I	Blau, Cry	ystal, & A	Aronson	ı (1990)		ŕ			
2. Masur, l #1	Fuld, I 36	Blau, Cry 10.70	ystal, & A 9.00		1990) 18.60	10.80	422	56		
-	-			386			422 422	56 54		
#1	36 36	10.70 7.00	9.00 7.70	386 386	18.60 15.30	11.90		54		
#1 #2	36 36 a Mea	10.70 7.00 sure:	9.00 7.70 DSM-I 12-item	386 386 II-R dia Select	18.60 15.30 agnosis; ive Rem	11.90 Blessed M inding Tes	422 ental Status t, consisten	54 Test t retrieval (#1)		
#1 #2 Dementi	36 36 a Mea Meas	10.70 7.00 sure: ure:	9.00 7.70 DSM-I 12-item consiste	386 386 II-R dia Selecti ent long	18.60 15.30 agnosis; ive Rem s term re	11.90 Blessed M inding Tes etrieval (#2	422 ental Status	54 Test t retrieval (#1) trials		
#1 #2 Dementi Memory	36 36 a Mea Meas	10.70 7.00 sure: ure:	9.00 7.70 DSM-I 12-item consiste	386 386 II-R dia Selecti ent long	18.60 15.30 agnosis; ive Rem s term re	11.90 Blessed M inding Tes etrieval (#2	422 ental Status t, consistent) scores, 6 t	54 Test t retrieval (#1) trials		
#1 #2 Demention Memory	36 36 a Mea Meas	10.70 7.00 sure: ure:	9.00 7.70 DSM-I 12-item consiste	386 386 II-R dia Select ent long unity dv	18.60 15.30 agnosis; ive Rem s term re	11.90 Blessed M inding Tes strieval (#2 lderly diag	422 ental Status t, consistent) scores, 6 t	54 Test t retrieval (#1) trials		

Table 5 Long-Term Memory and Dementia/Depression

Author(s)	Deme	nted/D	epressed		Contro	<u>l</u>		
•	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	SD	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u>	ī
1. Breen,	Larson,	Reifler	, Vitalian	o, & L	awrence	: (1984)		
							14	74
Dement	ia Meas	sure:	DSM-II Scale	II diagi	nosis; M	lini Mental	State Exam	n; Dementia Rating
Depression Measure:			DSM-I	II diagi	nosis			
Memory Measure:			Logical	Memo	ry Forn	n I		
Dement	ia/Dep	Sample		•	_	•	gnosed with essive disor	
2. Rubin,	Kinsche	erf, Gra	nt, & Sto	randt (1991)			
	7	1.40	1.60	83	9.00	2.50	90	95
Dement	ia Meas	sure:				ing Scale; Questionna		nentia Rating
Depress	ion Me	asure:	DSM-I	II diagi	nosis, B	eck Depre	ssion Scale;	Geriatric
			Depres	sion Sc	ale			
Memory	Measu	ıre:	Logical	Memo	ry Forn	n I		
Dement	ia/Dep	Sample	: Commi	inity dv	welling	elderly diag	gnosed with	dementia,
			Alzhein	ner's ty	pe and	major depr	essive disor	der
Summary:								
				Wei	ghted N	<u>1</u> :		92
				Wei	ghted S	D.		.01

Table 6

Long-Term Memory and Depression

A (1 . ()		D .	•		0			
Author(s)	n	<u>Depres</u>	sed SD	<u>n</u>	Control M	SD	<u>N</u>	<u>r</u>
1. Gibson	(1981))						
	20	25.65	6.16	20	34.70	6.63	40	59
Depressi	on M	easure:	Psychia	trist rati	ng			
Memory	Meas	sure:	10-item each	Miller's	word li	st, total r	ecall score, 7	lists, 1 trial
Depresse	ed Sar	nple:	Inpatier	nt/Outpa	tient eld	lerly diag	nosed depres	ssed
2. Popkin,	Galla	gher, Th	ompson,	& Moo	re (1982	2)		
	18	17.56	8.66	23	16.87	8.19	41	.04
Depressi	on M	easures:	RDC di Scale	agnosis;	Beck D	epression	n Inventory;	Zung Depression
Memory	Meas	sure:	Paragra	ph recal	1			
Depresse	ed Sar	nple:	Outpati	ent elde	rly diagr	nosed dep	pressed	
3. Zarit (19	982)							
#la							79	33
#2 a							79	21
#1b							79	31
#2b							79	23
Depressi	on M	easures:					f Symptom L	
Memory	Meas	sures:					ore, 1 trial (# trial (#2)	1); 15-item
Depresse	ed Sar	mple:	Commu	_	elling el		assessed for	
4. Mormon	nt (19	84)						
	<u>.</u> -		_	. –			101	24
Depressi Memory			15-item		uditory	hkeit Ska -Verbal L	la .earning Test	t, total recall
Depresso	ed Sar	nple:		inity dw ion diag	_	derly not	assessed for	

5. West, Boatwright, & Schleser (1984)

#1 67 .12 #2 67 .13

Depression Measure: Beck Depression Inventory

Memory Measure: 16-item Craik's word list, total recall score, 1 trial (#1); 16-

item shopping list, total recall score, 1 trial (#2)

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for

depression diagnosis

6. O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wallace, Lemke, & Kohout (1986)

25 47 -.27 #1 22 5.00 2.09 6.08 1.85 #2 23 5.57 2.78 25 6.08 1.85 48 -.11

Depression Measures: RDC diagnosis; Schedule for Affective Disorders and

Schizophrenia diagnosis (SADS-L); Center for Epidemiological

Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)

Memory Measure: 20-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly; diagnosed depressed (#1),

elevated depressive symptoms, not meeting criteria for

depression (#2)

7. Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Hamer (1987)

14 70.70 16.50 16 83.60 12.40 30 -.42

Depression Measures: DSM-III diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale

Memory Measure: 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total recall score, 10 trials

Depressed Sample: Outpatient elderly diagnosed depressed

8. Hart, Kwentus, Taylor, & Harkins (1987)

10 12.20 1.50 14 17.70 1.40 24 -.90

Depression Measures: DSM-III diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale

Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I

Depressed Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed

9. Lachman, Steinberg, & Trotter (1987)

47 -.15

Depression Measure: Zung Depression Scale

Memory Measures: 10-item shopping list and 10-item gift list, averaged total recall

score, 1 trial

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for

depression diagnosis

Table 6 (cont'd)

Depressed Sample:

10. Niederehe & Yoder (1989) #1 24 16.69 5.08 22 18.43 6.67 46 -.15 22 46 -.34 #2 24 15.17 4.86 18.55 4.86 Depression Measures: RDC diagnosis; SADS-L; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale 40-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial (#1); paragraph Memory Measures: recall (#2) Depressed Sample: Outpatient and community dwelling elderly diagnosed depressed 11. Poitrenaud, Moy, Girousse, Wolmark, & Piette (1989) 19.03 4.31 57 -.52 14.29 3.67 33 Depression Measures: DSM-III diagnosis; Montgomery and Asberg Depression Rating Scale; Geriatric Depression Scale 20-item McCarthy's shopping list task, total recall score, Memory Measure: 1 trial Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed Depressed Sample: 12. Speedie, Rabins, Pearlson, & Moberg (1990) 6.00 1.30 17 6.23 1.30 38 -.09 Depression Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale 10-item Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test, total recall score, Memory Measure: number of trials varied Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed Depressed Sample: 13. Danion, Willard-Schroeder, Zimmerman, Grange, Schlienger, & Singer (1991) 8.90 #1 18 6.40 3.70 18 2.90 36 -.36 #2 18 1.30 2.00 18 4.50 4.50 36 -.43 DSM-III diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale Depression Measure: Logical Memory Form 1 (#1); 30-item word list, total recall Memory Measure: score, 1 trial (#2) Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed Depressed Sample: 14. Feehan, Knight, & Partridge (1991) 30 10 5.50 2.43 20 7.20 2.46 -.34 Depression Measures: DSM-III diagnosis; Geriatric Depression Scale Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I

Outpatient elderly diagnosed depressed

15. King, Caine, Conwell, & Cox (1991) 23 6.40 1.50 23 7.50 1.40 46 -.36 Depression Measures: DSM-III-R diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale Memory Measure: 10-item Caine's word list, total recall score, 1 trial Depressed Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed 16. Rubin, Kinscherf, Grant, & Storandt (1991) 9.00 2.50 91 -.75 5.90 2.20 83 Depression Measures: DSM-III diagnosis, Beck Depression Inventory, Geriatric **Depression Scale** Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I Elderly diagnosed depressed Depressed Sample: 17. Lichtenberg, Manning, & Turkheimer (1992) -.71 16 7.30 3.50 11.50 2.20 35 19 Depression Measure: Geriatric Depression Scale Memory Measure: Logical Memory Form I Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for depression diagnosis 18. Gannon (1994) 45 -.35 Depression Measures: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; Beck Depression Inventory; Geriatric Depression Scale Memory Measures: Summed z-score of 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total recall score, 6 trials and Logical Memory Form I averaged over 3 assessment periods Community dwelling elderly not assessed for Depressed Sample: depression diagnosis

Summary:

Weighted M: -.30
Weighted SD: .06

Table 7

Long-Term Memory and Depression/Pseudodementia

Author(s)	Depr	essed/Ps	eudodem.		Contro	<u>ol</u>					
	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u>	ī			
1. Speedie	, Rabi	ns, Pearl	son, & Mo	berg	(1990)						
	18	4.29	2.28	17	6.23	1.30	35	47			
Dement	ia Mea	sure:	Mini Me	ntal S	tate Exa	amination					
Depress	ion M	easure:	DSM-III	SM-III diagnosis; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale							
Memory Measure: 10				10-item Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, total recall score number of trials varied							
Dement	ia/Dep	Sample	_	that	was alle	viated ov	major depre er treatment	ession and			

Table 8

Memory Complaints and Depression

Αι	thor(s)	I	Depress	ed	<u> </u>	Control				
		<u>n</u>	M	SD	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u> .	Ī	
1.	Kahn, Za	rit, Hi	lbert, N	iederehe	: (1975)					
					•			105	.33	
	Complain				y of men			1_		
	Depression				•		ating Scal			
	Depressed	ı sam	pie:	depres	•	uent ei	ieriy with	mild to mode	erate	
2.	Popkin, C	Gallagi	her, Tho	ompson,	& Moore	e (1982)			
	#1	18	-	1.27	23	•	1.20	41	.29	
	#2	18	4.02	.99	23	4.69	1.19	41	.30	
	#3	18	4.24	1.06	23	4.77	.90	41	.27	
	Complain	t Mea	sure:	Metam	emory Q	uestion	naire: Sev	erity Subscal	e (#1), Effort	
	_			Subsca	le (#2), F	requen	cy Subsca	le (#3)		
	Depression	n Mea	asure:	RDC diagnosis; Beck Depression Inventory; Zung Depression Scale						
	Depressed	d Sam	ple:	Outpat	ient elder	rly diag	nosed dep	ressed		
3.	Zarit (198	82)								
	#1	•						79	.22	
	#2							79	.25	
	Complain	t Mea	sure:	Total r	nemory p	roblem	S			
	Depressio								inventory (#2))
	Depressed	d Sam	ple:		unity dwo		derly not a	assessed for		
4.	West, Bo	atwrig	tht, & S	chleser ((1984)					
	•				` ,			67	.25	
	Complain				er of men					
	Depressio				Depressio					
	Depressed	i Sam	ple:		unity dwo		derly not	assessed for		

5. O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wallace, Lemke, & Kohout (1986)

#1 77 .34 #2 77 .32 #3 77 .20

Complaint Measure: Memory compared to others their age (#1); Memory compared

to when young adult (#2); Frequency of memory problems (#3)

Depression Measure: RDC diagnosis; SADS-L; CES-D

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly diagnosed depressed ($\underline{n} = 26$),

elevated depressive symptoms not meeting criteria for depression ($\underline{n} = 25$), and healthy controls ($\underline{n} = 26$).

6. Tun, Perlmutter, Russo, & Nathan (1987)

144 .49

Complaint Measure: Short Inventory of Memory Experiences

Depression Measure: Zung Depression Scale

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for

depression diagnosis

7. Chandler & Gerndt (1988)

31 .42

Complaint Measure: Severity of memory complaint

Depression Measure: DSM-III diagnosis

Depressed Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed

8. Derouesne, Alperovitch, Arvay, Migeon, Moulin, Vollant, Rapin, & LePoncin (1989)

367 .33

Complaint Measure: Severity of memory complaint

Depression Measure: Zung Depression Scale

Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for

depression diagnosis

9. Niederehe & Yoder (1989)

24 27.38 8.31 22 24.77 5.73 46 .18

Complaint Measure: Metamemory Questionnaire: Concerns Subscale

Depression Measures: RDC diagnosis; SADS-L; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale Depressed Sample: Outpatient/Community dwelling elderly diagnosed depressed

10. O'Boyle, Amadeo, & Self (1990)

22 .61

Complaint Measure: Cognitive Complaints Inventory

Depression Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Beck Depression Inventory

Depressed Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed depressed

11. O'Connor, Pollitt, Roth, Brook, & Reiss (1990) .70 36 3.40 2.10 213 1.30 1.40 249 Complaint Measure: Number of memory complaints Depression Measure: DSM-III-R diagnosis Depressed Sample: Outpatient elderly diagnosed depressed 12. Zelinski, Gilewski, & Anthony-Bergstone (1990) 198 .28 Memory Functioning Questionnaire: Frequency of Forgetting Complaint Measure: Zung Depression Scale Depression Measure: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for Sample: depression diagnosis 13. Feehan, Knight, & Partridge (1991) 47.40 11.39 20 .56 10 33.30 11.50 30 Cognitive Failures Questionnaire Complaint Measure: Depression Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Geriatric Depression Scale Depressed Sample: Community dwelling elderly diagnosed depressed 14. Grut, Jorm, Fratiglioni, Forsell, Viitanen, & Winblad (1993) 436 .22 Complaint Measure: Presence of memory complaints Depression Measure: Comprehensive Psychopathological Rating Scale Community dwelling elderly not assessed for Sample: depression diagnosis Summary:

Weighted M:

Weighted SD:

.34

.02

Table 9

Memory Complaints and Dementia

Author(s)		<u>Dement</u>	ted		Contro	<u> </u>		
	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u> .	ī
. Kahn, Z	arit. H	ilbert, &	z Niedere	he (197:	5)			
#1 A	.,			`	,		66	.07
#1 B							66	08
#1C							66	.19
#1 D							66	.03
#2A							66	20
#2B							66	32
#2C							66	.03
#2D							66	15
Dementi	a Maa	BIILEG.	_		_	-), remote ge	
Dementi			Inpation function	ent/Outp on based	atient of	elderly diag		onnaire (#2) altered brain and the Mental
	a Samı	ple: Zoder (1	Inpation function Status 989)	ent/Outpon baseds Questic	oatient of on the onnaire	elderly diag Face-Han (<u>n</u> = 28)	gnosed with ds (<u>n</u> = 38) a	altered brain and the Mental
Dementi	a Samp he & Y	ole: 7oder (1 30.0	Inpation function Status 989) 989) 989)	ent/Outron baseds Questic	patient of on the onnaire	elderly diag Face-Han (<u>n</u> = 28) 7 5.73	gnosed with ds $(\underline{n} = 38)$ and 32	altered brain and the Mental
Dementi	he & Y 10 nt Mea	oder (1 30.09 asure: M sures: M	Inpation function Status 989) 9 9.17 Metamem	ent/Outpon based Questic 22 Aory Questus Que	patient of l on the onnaire 24.7 estionna estionna	elderly diag Face-Han (n = 28) 7 5.73 ire: Conce	gnosed with ds (<u>n</u> = 38) a	altered brain and the Mental .40
Dementia Complair Dementia Dementia	he & Y 10 nt Mea a Meas a Samp	oder (1 30.09 asure: M sures: M ple: C	Inpatic function Status 989) 9 9.17 Metamem Mental St Dutpatien lementia	ent/Outpon based 22 22 22 20 22 24 24 25 26 27 27 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	24.7 estionna estionna unity d	elderly diag Face-Han (n = 28) 7 5.73 ire: Conce aire; Face- welling eld	gnosed with ds (n = 38) a 32 grns Subscale Hand Test lerly diagnos	altered brain and the Mental .40
Dementia Complair Dementia Dementia	he & Y 10 nt Mea a Meas a Samp ne, Gup 29 nt Mea a Meas	oder (1 30.09 asure: M sures: M ple: C d ota, Hun 7.40 asure: sures:	Inpatic function Status 989) 9 9.17 Metament Mental St Dutpatient lementia nphrey, C 3.60 Memory DSM-II	22 nory Questic atus Questic Oppenhei 35 y Observ I diagno	24.7 estionna estionna unity di imer, M 11.80 vation C sis; NII	elderly diag Face-Han (n = 28) 7 5.73 ire: Conce aire; Face- welling eld lirsen, & E 4.30 buestionnai NCDS-AD	gnosed with ds (n = 38) a 32 The Subscale Hand Test derly diagnoses Evans (1990) 64 Ere-SA RDA	altered brain and the Mental .40

4. O'Connor, Pollitt, Roth, Brook, & Reiss (1990)

2.20 1.70 .32 #1 80 213 1.30 1.40 293 #2 55 2.60 2.10 213 268 .46 1.30 1.40

Complaint Measure:

Number of memory complaints

Dementia Measure:

CAMDEX diagnosis

Dementia Sample:

Outpatient elderly diagnosed with mild (#1) or moderate

dementia (#2).

5. Feehan, Knight, & Partridge (1991)

10 20.00 9.29 10 29.30 10.34 20 -.44

Complaint Measure:

Cognitive Failures Questionnaire

Dementia Measures:

DSM-III diagnosis; Hachinski Ischemic Scale; Mini Mental

State Examination

Dementia Sample:

Inpatient elderly diagnosed with dementia, Alzheimer's type

6. Grut, Jorm, Fratiglioni, Forsell, Viitanen, & Winblad (1993)

178 -.30

Complaint Measure:

Presence of memory complaints

Dementia Measures:

DSM-III-R diagnosis, Clinical Dementia Rating Scale,

Mini Mental State Examination

Dementia Sample:

Community dwelling elderly diagnosed with

dementia

Summary:

Weighted M:

Weighted SD:

.17 .09

Table 10

Memory Complaints and Depression/Pseudodementia

Author(s)	Depre	ssed/P	seudodem.		Contro	1			
	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>n</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>N</u>	Ţ	
						-			

1. O'Boyle, Amadeo, & Self (1990)

11 .81

Complaint Measure: Cognitive Complaints Inventory
Dementia Measure: Mini Mental State Examination

Depression Measure: DSM-III diagnosis; Beck Depression Inventory
Sample: Inpatient elderly diagnosed with major depression

and also displaying reversible dementia

Table 11

Complaints versus Performance: Demented Samples

Author(s)			
.,		N	ī
. Kahn, Zarit, Hilbert,	& Niederehe (1975)		
	, ,	48	.06
Complaint Measure:	Severity of memory problems		
Memory Measure:	Babcock Story Recall		
Dementia Measure:	Face-Hand Test; Mental Status Question	onnaire	
Sample:	Inpatient/Outpatient elderly diagnosed brain function	with al	tered
2. O'Connor, Pollitt, Ro	th, Brook, & Reiss (1990)		
#1		80	.29
#2		55	.27
Complaint Measure:	Number of memory complaints		
Memory Measure:	Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Ele (CAMDEX), sum of 7 verbal and visual	•	
Dementia Measure:	CAMDEX diagnosis		
Sample:	Elderly medical patients diagnosed with moderate dementia	h mild o	or
Summary:			
	Weighted M:		.22

Table 12

Complaints versus Performance: Depressed Samples

Author(s)			
		N	Ī
1. Kahn, Zarit, Hilbert,	& Niederehe (1975)		
		105	01
Complaint Measure:	Severity of memory problems		
Memory Measure:	Babcock Story Recall		
Depression Measure:	Adjective Mood Checklist; Hamilto	on Depressi	on Rating Scale
Sample:	Inpatient/Outpatient elderly with m	•	_
•	depression		
2. O'Connor, Pollitt, Ro	th, Brook, & Reiss (1990)		
	, , ,	36	.01
Complaint Measure:	Number of memory complaints		
Memory Measure:	Cambridge Mental Disorders of the	Elderly Ex	amination
•	(CAMDEX)	•	
Depression Measure:	•		
Sample:	Elderly medical patients diagnosed	depressed	
-		•	
Summary:			
Summa y.			
<u>Summary</u> .	Weighted M:		.00

Table 13

Complaints versus Performance: Healthy Elderly Samples

Author(s)		
	<u>N</u> r	
1. Zarit (1982)		
#1	79 .40	
#2	79 .31	
Complaint Measure:	Total memory problems	
Memory Measure:	15-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial (#1); 15-ite shopping list, total recall score, 1 trial (#2)	em
Sample:	Community dwelling elderly not assessed for any diagnoses	
2. Sunderland, Watts, B	addeley, & Harris (1986)	
#1	60 .26	
#2	60 .37	
Complaint Measure:	Frequency of memory problems from Sunderland's M Questionnaire (#1); Sunderland's Memory Questionna	•
Memory Measure:	Paragraph recall	
Sample:	Community dwelling elderly not assessed for any diagnoses	
3. O'Connor, Pollitt, Ro	th, Brook, & Reiss (1990)	
	213 .05	
Complaint Measure:	Number of memory complaints	
Memory Measure:	Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Elderly Examinat (CAMDEX)	ion
Dementia Measure:	CAMDEX	
Depression Measure:	DSM-III-R	
Sample:	Elderly medical patients not meeting dementia or depression diagnosis	

4. Zelinski, Gilewski, & Anthony-Bergstone (1990) #1 198 .13 #2 198 .23 Memory Functioning Questionnaire: Frequency of Forgetting Complaint Measure: Memory Measure: Paragraph recall (#1); 20-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial Sample: Community dwelling elderly not assessed for any diagnoses 5. Taylor, Miller, & Tinklenberg (1992) 43 .10 #1 #2 43 .25 .17 #3 43 Complaint Measure: Memory Functioning Questionnaire 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total recall score for trial 1 Memory Measure: (#1), trial 2 (#2), and trial 3 (#3) Dementia Measure: Mini Mental State Examination Depression Measure: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale Community dwelling elderly not meeting dementia or Sample: depression diagnosis. 6. Gannon (1994) 45 .21 Complaint Measure: Summed z-score of presence and frequency of memory complaints Summed z-score of 12-item Selective Reminding Test, total Memory Measure: recall score, 6 trials and Logical Memory Form I averaged over 3 assessment periods Community dwelling elderly not assessed for any Sample: diagnoses Summary:

Weighted M:

Weighted SD:

.20

.01

Table 14

Complaints versus Performance: Depressed and Healthy Elderly Samples

Author(s)							
		<u>N</u>	Ţ				
1. O'Hara, Hinrichs, Wa	llace, Lemke, & Kohout (1986)						
#1		77	.21				
#2		77	.03				
#3		77	.07				
Complaint Measure: Memory Measure:	Memory compared to others their to when young adult (#2); Freque 20-item word list, total recall score	ncy of memo	•				
Depression Measure:	•	•					
Sample:	 RDC diagnosis; SADS-L; CES-D Community dwelling elderly diagnosed depressed (n = 2 elevated depressive symptoms not meeting criteria for depression (n = 25), and healthy controls (n = 26). 						
Summary:							
	Weighted M:		.10				
	Weighted SD:		.01				

Table 15

Complaints versus Performance: Demented, Depressed, and Healthy Elderly Samples

Author(s)		
	<u>N</u>	ŗ
1. Derouesne, Alperovit	ch, Arvay, Migeon, Moulin, Vollant, Rapin, & 367	Le Poncin (1989) .08
Complaint Measure:	Severity of memory complaints	
Memory Measure:	Global Memory Score of 8 verbal and visual t	ests
Dementia Measure:	Below 2 SD on Profil de rendement; Visual R	Letention Test
Depression Measure:	Zung Depression Scale; Zung Anxiety Scale; Questionnaire	Well Being
Sample:	Community dwelling elderly diagnosed with of dysfunction ($\underline{n} = 23$), psychoaffective brain dy ($\underline{n} = 63$), healthy controls ($\underline{n} = 269$), and organ psychoaffective brain dysfunction ($\underline{n} = 12$)	sfunction
2. Niederehe & Yoder (1989)	
#1	54	.22
#2	54	20
Complaint Measure: Memory Measure:	Metamemory Questionnaire: Concerns Subsc. 40-item word list, total recall score, 1 trial (#: recall (#2)	
Dementia Measure:	Mental Status Questionnaire; Face-Hand Test	:
Depression Measure:	RDC diagnosis; SADS-L; Hamilton Depression	on Rating Scale
Sample:	Outpatient/Community dwelling elderly diagn	osed demented
	$(\underline{n} = 10)$, depressed $(\underline{n} = 24)$, or healthy contri	ols ($\underline{\mathbf{n}} = 22$)
Summary:		
	Weighted M:	11

Table 16

<u>Differentiation of Short- and Long-Term Memory</u>

	Subject 1							Subject 2					
	<u>Trial</u>]	[ria]	<u>[</u>			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6	
Word													
1	x		X		X		x				X	X	
2		x	x						x				
1 2 3 4 5	X		X			x	x	x			X	X	
4			X	X						x	X		
		X		X		X		X			X	X	
6 7 8 9		X	X							X			
7	X			X		X	x		X		X	X	
8			X	X				X	X				
	X			X		X	x				X	X	
10		X	X						X	X			
11		X		X		X				X	X	X	
12			X	X				X	X				
	SUM	ſ :	3	30				30					
	STM	[:	•	18				07					
	LTM	[2	27				34					
	RLT	R:		12				10					
	CLT	R:	(00				13					

Table 17

Hypotheses 95% Confidence Intervals

	Worst Case	Best Case
Hypothesis #1:		
Memory complaints and somatic depression	.22	.50
Memory complaints and cogntive depression	.19	.44
Hypothesis #2 & 3:		
Memory complaints and depressed mood	.11	.39
Memory complaints and diminished interests	.29	.56
Memory complaints and weight/appetite changes	14	.21
Memory complaints and sleep problems	.27	.56
Memory complaints and fatigue	.20	.49
Memory complaints and worthlessness/guilt	.06	.35
Memory complaints and decreased concen./indec	58	.82
Memory complaints and death/suicide	.04	.33
Hypothesis 4:		
DEP and LTS	35	06
DEP and CR	33	07
Hypothesis 5:		
Memory complaints and CR	16	.11
Memory complaints and RLTR	03	.28
Memory complaints and total recall	10	.18
Hypothesis 6:		
Memory complaints and DEP	.23	.51

APPENDIX C

APPENDIX C

Rule of Combinations

This rule states that the number of possible choices of "r" objects from a group of "N" distinct objects is denoted by (N/r). Given that the Selective Reminding Test (i.e., SRT) contains six trials, each word can be recalled from zero to six times. The number of possible choices for zero through 6 successful recall attempts is given immediately below with their breakdown across trials.

If a word is recalled all six times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6x5x4x3x2x1/6x5x4x3x2x1. This equals one possible combination (i.e., event).

			<u>Tr</u>	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	<u>RLTR</u>
Event 1	x	x	x	x	x	x	6	0	6	6	0

If a word is recalled five times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6x5x4x3x2/5x4x3x2x1. This equals six possible events.

			<u>Tr</u>	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	RLTR
Event 1	X	x	X	x	X		5	0	6	0	5
Event 2	x	X	X	X		x	5	0	6	0	5
Event 3	X	X	X		X	x	5	0	6	2	3
Event 4	x	X		X	X	x	5	0	6	3	2
Event 5	X		X	X	X	x	5	1	4	4	0
Event 6		X	X	X	X	x	5	0	5	5	0

If a word is recalled four times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6x5x4x3/4x3x2x1. This equals 15 possible events.

			Tr	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	<u>RLTR</u>
Event 1	X	X	X	X			4	0	6	0	4
Event 2		X	X	X	X		4	0	5	0	4
Event 3			X	X	X	x	4	0	4	4	0
Event 4	X	X	X		X		4	0	6	0	4
Event 5	X	X	X			x	4	0	6	0	4
Event 6		X	X	X		x	4	0	5	0	4
Event 7	x		X	X	X		4	1	4	0	3
Event 8	X			X	X	x	4	1	3	3	0
Event 9		X		X	X	x	4	1	3	3	0
Event 10	X	X		X	X		4	0	6	0	4
Event 11	x	x			x	x	4	0	6	2	2
Event 12		x	X		x	x	4	0	5	2	2
Event 13	x	x		x		x	4	0	6	0	4
Event 14	x		X	x		x	4	1	4	0	3
Event 15	x		x		x	x	4	2	2	2	0

If a word is recalled three times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6x5x4/3x2x1. This equals 20 possible events.

			Tr	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	<u>RLTR</u>
Event 1	X	X	X				3	0	6	0	3
Event 2		X	X	X			3	0	5	0	3
Event 3			X	X	X		3	0	4	0	3
Event 4				X	X	x	3	0	3	3	0
Event 5	X	X		X			3	0	6	0	3
Event 6	X	X			X		3	0	6	0	3
Event 7	X	X				x	3	0	6	0	3
Event 8		X	X		X		3	0	5	0	3
Event 9		X	X			x	3	0	5	0	3
Event 10			X	X		X	3	0	4	0	3
Event 11	X		X	X			3	1	4	0	2
Event 12	X		X		X		3	3	0	0	0
Event 13	X		X			X	3	3	0	0	0
Event 14	X			X		x	3	3	0	0	0
Event 15	X			X	X		3	1	3	0	2
Event 16		x		X	x		3	1	3	0	2
Event 17	x				X	X	3	1	2	2	0
Event 18		X			X	x	3	1	2	2	0
Event 19			x		x	x	3	1	2	2	0
Event 20		X		X		X	3	3	0	0	0

If a word is recalled two times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6x5/2x1. This equals 15 possible events.

			Tr	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	<u>RLTR</u>
Event 1	x	X					2	0	6	0	2
Event 2	x		X				2	2	0	0	0
Event 3	x			X			2	2	0	0	0
Event 4	x				X		2	2	0	0	0
Event 5	X					X	2	2	0	0	0
Event 6		x	X				2	0	5	0	2
Event 7		x		X			2	2	0	0	0
Event 8		x			X		2	2	0	0	0
Event 9		x				X	2	2	0	0	0
Event 10			X	X			2	0	4	0	2
Event 11			X		X		2	2	0	0	0
Event 12			X			X	2	2	0	0	0
Event 13				X	X		2	0	3	0	2
Event 14				X		X	2	2	0	0	0
Event 15					x	x	2	0	2	2	0

If a word is recalled one time across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 6/1. This equals six possible events.

			Tr	<u>ial</u>							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>SUM</u>	<u>STM</u>	<u>LTM</u>	CLTR	RLTR
Event 1	x						1	1	0	0	0
Event 2		X					1	1	0	0	0
Event 3			X				1	1	0	0	0
Event 4				X			1	1	0	0	0
Event 5					X		1	1	0	0	0
Event 6						x	1	1	0	0	0

If a word is recalled zero times across six trials, the number of possible combinations is given by 0/0. This equals one possible event.

APPENDIX D

APPENDIX D

SRT Word List

Shine Grass
Disagree Moon
Fat Prepare
Wealthy Prize
Drunk Duck
Pin Leaf

LIST OF REFERENCES

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Alden, D., Austin, C., & Sturgeon, R. (1989). A correlation between the Geriatric Depression Scale long and short forms. <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>, <u>44</u>, P124-125.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). <u>Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders</u> (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1987). <u>Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental</u> disorders (Revised 3rd ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). <u>Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders</u> (4th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Bassett, S., & Folstein, M. (1993). Memory complaint, memory performance, and psychiatric diagnosis: A community study. <u>Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology</u>, 6, 105-111.
- Beck, A. (1967). <u>Depression: Clinical, experimental, and theoretical aspects</u>. New York: Hoeber.
- Beck, A., Steer, R., & Garbin, M. (1988). Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: Twenty-five years of evaluation. <u>Clinical Psychology Review</u>, 8, 77-100.
- Beck, A., Ward, C., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., & Erbaugh, J. (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 4, 53-63.
- Blessed, G., Tomlinson, B., & Roth, M. (1968). The association between quantitative measures of dementia and of senile change in the cerebral gray matter of elderly subjects. British Journal of Psychiatry, 114, 797-811.
- Block, R., & Berchou, R. (1984). Alprazolam and Lorazepam effects on memory acquisition and retrieval processes. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 20, 233-241</u>.

- Breen, A., Larson, E., Reifler, B., Vitaliano, P., & Lawrence, G. (1984). Cognitive performance and functional competence in coexisting dementia and depression. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 32, 132-137.
- Brink, T., Yesavage, J., Lum, O., Heersema, P., Adey, M., & Rose, T. (1982). Screening tests for geriatric depression. Clinical Gerontologist, 1, 37-44.
- Buschke, H. (1973). Selective reminding for analysis of memory and learning. Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior, 12, 543-550.
- Buschke, H. (1974). Two stages of learning by children and adults. <u>Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society</u>, 2 (4B), 392-394.
- Buschke, H., & Fuld, P. (1974). Evaluating storage, retention, and retrieval in disordered memory and learning. Neurology, 24, 1019-1025.
- Caine, E., Ebert, M., Weingartner, H. (1977). An outline for the analysis of dementia. The memory disorder of Huntingtons disease. Neurology, 27, 1087-1092.
- Cattell, R. (1966). The scree test for number of factors. <u>Multivariate Behavioral Research</u>, 1, 245.
- Cavanaugh, J., & Perlmutter, M. (1982). Metamemory: A critical examination. Child Development, 53, 11-28.
- Chandler, J., & Gerndt, J. (1988). Memory complaints and memory deficits in young and old psychiatric inpatients. <u>Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology</u>, 1, 84-88.
- Cohen, J., & Cohen, P. (1983). <u>Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences</u> (2nd ed.). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Craik, F. (1991). Memory functions in normal aging. In T. Yanagihara & R. Petersen (Eds.), Memory disorders research and clinical practice (pp. 347-367). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Cronbach, L. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. <u>Psychometrika</u>, 16, 297-334.
- Crook, T., Bartus, R., Ferris, S., Whitehouse, P., Cohen, G., & Gershon, S. (1986). Age associated memory impairment: Proposed diagnostic criteria and measures of clinical change-Report of a National Institute of Mental Health Work Group.

 <u>Developmental Neuropsychology</u>, 2, 261-276.
- Cutler, S., & Grams, A. (1988). Correlates of self-reported everyday memory problems. Journal of Gerontology, 43, S82-90.

- Danion, J., Willard-Schroeder, D., Zimmermann, M., Grange, D., Schlienger, J., & Singer, L. (1991). Explicit memory and repetition priming in depression. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 48, 707-711.
- Derogatis, I., & Spencer, P. (1982). The Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): I.

 Administration, scoring, and procedures manual. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Derouesne, C., Alperovitch, A., Arvay, N., Migeon, P., Moulin, F., Vollant, M., Rapin, J., & Le Poncin, M. (1989). Memory complaints in the elderly: A study of 367 community-dwelling individuals from 50-80 years old. <u>Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics</u>, 1, 151-163.
- Erickson, R., Poon, L., & Walsh-Sweeney, L. (1980). Clinical memory testing of the elderly. In L. Poon, J. Fozard, L. Cermak, D. Arenberg, & L. Thompson (Eds.), New directions in memory and aging: Proceedings of the George A. Talland Memorial Conference. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Feehan, M., Knight, R., & Partridge, F. (1991). Cognitive complaint and test performance in elderly patients suffering depression or dementia. <u>International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry</u>, 6, 287-293.
- Fink, M., Green, M., & Bender, M. (1952). The Face-Hand Test as a diagnostic sign of organic mental syndrome. Neurology, 2, 46-58.
- Fitzgibbon, M., Cella, D., & Sweeney, J. (1988). Redundancy in measures of depression. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 44, 372-374.
- Flavell, J. (1977). Cognitive Development. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Flicker, C., Ferris, S., & Reisberg, B. (1993). A two-year longitudinal study of cognitive function in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. <u>Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology</u>, 6, 84-96.
- Folstein, M., Folstein, S., & McHugh, P. (1975). "Mini-Mental State" A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. <u>Journal of Psychiatric Research</u>, 12, 189-198.
- Ford, J., MacCallum, R., & Tait, M. (1986). The application of exploratory factor analysis in applied psychology: A critical review and analysis. <u>Personnel Psychology</u>, 39, 291-314.
- Fuld, P. (1976). Storage, retention, and retrieval in Korsakoff's syndrome. Neuropsychologia, 14, 225-236.

- Fuld, P., & Buschke, H. (1976). Stages of retrieval in verbal learning. <u>Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior</u>, 15, 401-410.
- Gannon, T. (1994). The impact of depressive symptoms on explicit memory performance in the elderly. Unpublished master's thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI.
- Gibson, A. (1981). A further analysis of memory loss in dementia and depression in the elderly. <u>British Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 20, 179-185.
- Gilewski, M., Zelinski, E., & Schaie, K. (1990). The memory functioning questionnaire for assessment of memory complaints in adulthood and old age. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, 5, 482-490.
- Grut, M., Jorm, A., Fratiglioni, L., Forsell, Y., Viitanen, M., & Winblad, B. (1993). Memory complaints of elderly people in a population survey: Variation according to dementia stage and depression. <u>Journal of the American Geriatrics Society</u>, 41, 1295-1300.
- Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. <u>Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery</u>, and Psychiatry, 23, 56-62.
- Hanninen, R., Reinikainen, K., Helkala, E., Koivisto, K., Mykkanen, L., Laakso, M., Pyorala, K., & Riekkinen, P. (1994). Subjective memory complaints and personality traits in normal elderly samples. <u>Journal of the American Geriatrics Society</u>, 42, 1-4.
- Harper, R., Kotik-Harper, D., & Kirby, H. (1990). Psychometric assessment of depression in an elderly general medical population. <u>Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease</u>, <u>178</u>, 113-119.
- Hart, R., Kwentus, J., Taylor, J., & Hamer, R. (1987). Selective reminding procedure in depression and dementia. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, 2, 111-115.
- Hart, R., Kwentus, J., Taylor, J., & Harkins, S. (1987). Rate of forgetting in dementia and depression. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>55</u>, 101-105.
- Heath, J., Grant, W., Kamps, C., & Margolin, E. (1991). Outpatient geriatric assessment: Associations between referral sources and assessment findings. <u>Journal of the American Geriatrics Society</u>, 39, 267-272.
- Hedlund, J., & Vieweg, B. (1979). The Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression: A comprehensive review. <u>Journal of Operational Psychiatry</u>, <u>10</u>, 149-162.
- Hermann, D. (1982). Know thy memory: The use of questionnaires to assess and study memory. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 92, 434-452.

- Hermann, D., Grubs, L., Sigmundi. A., Grueneich, R. (1986). Awareness of memory ability before and after relevant memory experience. <u>Human Learning</u>, 5, 91-107.
- Hughes, C., Berg, L., Danzinger, W., Coben, L., & Martin, R. (1982). A new clinical scale for the staging of dementia. <u>British Journal of Psychiatry</u>, 140, 566-572.
- Hultsch, D., Hertzog, C., & Dixon, R. (1985). Memory perceptions and memory performance in adulthood and aging. Canadian Journal of Aging, 4, 179-187.
- Hunter, J. (1990). <u>Attenuation due to random error of measurement</u>. Unpublished manuscript.
- Hunter, J. (1993a). <u>CORRECT: A program in Basica to correct correlations for various artifacts</u> (1st revision, Sep. 1993). Unpublished manuscript.
- Hunter, J. (1993b). <u>CONFINT: A program in Basica to compute confidence intervals and statistical power analysis</u> (2nd revision, Sep. 1993). Unpublished manuscript.
- Hunter, J., & Cohen, S. (1969). PACKAGE: A system of computer routines for the analyses of correlational data. <u>Education and Psychological Measurement</u>, 29, 697-700.
- Hunter, J., & Schmidt, F. (1990). Methods of meta-analysis. Newbury Park: Sage Publication.
- Johnson, M., & Magaro, P. (1987). Effects of mood and severity on memory processes in depression and mania. Psychological Bulletin, 101, 28-40.
- Kahn, R., Goldfarb, A, Pollack, M., Peck, A. (1960). Brief objective measures for the determination of mental status in the aged. American Journal of Psychiatry, 117, 326-328.
- Kahn, R., Zarit, S., Hilbert, N., & Niederehe, G. (1975). Memory complaint and impairment in the aged. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, <u>32</u>, 1569-1573.
- Kendall, P., Hollon, S., Beck, A., Hammen, C., & Ingram, R. (1987). Issues and recommendations regarding use of the Beck Depression Inventory. <u>Cognitive Therapy and Research</u>, 11, 289-299.
- King, D., Caine, E., Conwell, Y., & Cox, C. (1991). The neuropsychology of depression in the elderly: A comparative study of normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. <u>Journal of Neuropsychiatry</u>, 3, 163-168.

- Koenig, H., Meador, K., Cohen, H., & Blazer, D. (1988). Self-rated depression scales and screening for major depression in the older hospitalized patient with medical illness. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 36, 699-706.
- Lachman, M., Steinberg, E., & Trotter, S. (1987). Effects of control beliefs and attributions on memory self-assessments and performance. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, 2, 266-271.
- Larrabee, G., & Crook, T. (1989). Dimensions of everyday memory in Age-Associated Memory Impairment. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 1, 92-97.
- Larrabee, G., Largen, J., & Levin, H. (1985). Sensitivity of age-decline resistant ("Hold") WAIS subtests to Alzheimer's disease. <u>Journal of Clinical and Experimental</u>
 Neuropsychology, 7, 497-504
- Lezak, M. (1983). Neuropsychological Assessment (2nd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lichtenberg, P., Manning, C., & Turkheimer, E. (1992). Memory dysfunction in depressed spousal caregivers. Clinical Gerontologist, 12, 77-80.
- Lichtenberg, P., Steiner, D., Marcopulos, B., & Tabscott, J. (1992). Comparison of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale and the Geriatric Depression Scale: Detection of depression in dementia patients. <u>Psychological Reports</u>, <u>70</u>, 515-521.
- Lines, C., Dawson, C., Preston, G., Reich, S., Foster, C., & Traub, M. (1991). Memory and attention in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type and in normal elderly subjects. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 13, 691-702.
- Lowenthal, M., Berkman, P., Brisset, G., Buehler, J., Pierce, R., Robinson, B., & Tier, M. (1967). Aging and mental disorders in San Francisco. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lyons, J., Strain, J., Hammer, J., Ackerman, A., & Fulop, G. (1989). Reliability, validity, and temporal stability of the Geriatric Depression Scale in hospitalized elderly.

 International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine, 19, 203-209.
- Maier, W. (1990). The Hamilton Depression Scale and its alternatives: A comparison of their reliability and validity. In P. Bech & A. Coppen (Eds.), <u>The Hamilton Scales</u> (pp. 64-71). New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Marks-Cash, M. (1992). <u>Correlates of dementia and depression in the able elderly</u>. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Michigan State University, Michigan.

- Masur, D., Fuld, P., Blau, A., Crystal, H., & Aronson, M. (1990). Predicting development of dementia in the elderly with the Selective Reminding Test. <u>Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology</u>, 12, 529-538.
- Masur, D., Fuld, P., Blau, A., Thal, L., Levin, H., & Aronson, M. (1989). Distinguishing normal and demented elderly with the Selective Reminding Test. <u>Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology</u>, 11, 615-630.
- McGlone, J., Gupta, S., Humphrey, D., Oppenheimer, S., Mirsen, T., & Evans, D. (1990). Screening for early dementia using memory complaints from patients and relatives.

 <u>Archives of Neurology</u>, 47, 1189-1193.
- McKhann, G., Drachman, D., Folstein, M., Katzman, R., Price, D., & Stadlan, E. (1984). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: Report of the NINCDS-ADRDA work group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services task force on Alzheimer's disease. Neurology, 34, 939-944.
- Miller, L., Cornett, T., & McFarland, D. (1978). Marijuana: An analysis of storage and retrieval deficits in memory with the technique of restricted reminding. <u>Pharmacology</u>, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 8, 327-332.
- Morgan, S., Furman, E., & Dikmen, S. (1981). Psychological effects of general anesthesia on five- to eight-year-old children. Anesthesiology, 55, 386-391.
- Mormont, C. (1984). The influence of age and depression on intellectual and memory performances. Acta Psychiatrica Belgica, 84, 127-134.
- National Institute on Aging. (1990). <u>Progress Report on Alzheimer's Disease</u>. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Nideffer, R. (1986). Concentration and attention control training. In J. William (Ed.),

 Applied Sport Psychology (pp. 257-269). University of Arizona: Mayfield Publishing.
- Niederehe, G., & Yoder, C. (1989). Metamemory perceptions in depressions of young and older adults. The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 177, 4-14.
- Nissen, M. (1986). Neuropsychology of attention and memory. <u>Journal of Head Trauma and Rehabilitation</u>, 1, 13-21.
- Norris, J., Gallagher, D., Wilson, A., & Winograd, C. (1987). Assessment of depression in geriatric medical outpatients: The validity of two screening measures. <u>Journal of the American Geriatric Society</u>, 35, 989-995.
- O'Boyle, M, Amadeo, M., & Self, D. (1990). Cognitive complaints in elderly depressed and pseudodemented patients. Psychology and Aging, 5, 467-468.

- O'Brien, K., & Glaudin, V. (1988). Factorial structure and factor reliability of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 78, 113-120.
- O'Connor, D., Pollitt, P., Roth, M., Brook, P., & Reiss, B. (1990). Memory complaints and impairment in normal, depressed, and demented elderly persons identified in a community survey. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 47, 224-227.
- O'Hara, M., Hinrichs, J., Wallace, R., Lemke, J., & Kohout, F. (1986). Memory complaint and memory performance in the depressed elderly. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, 1, 208-214.
- Olson, L., Nordberg, A., von Holst, H., Backman, L., Ebendal, T., Alafuzoff, I., Amberla, K., Hartvig, P., Herlitz, A., Lilja, A., Lundqvist, H., Langstrom, B., Meyerson, B., Persson, A., Viitanen, M., Winblad, B., & Seiger, A. (1992). Nerve growth factor affects C-nicotine binding, blood flow, EEG, and verbal episodic memory in an Alzheimer patient. <u>Journal of Neural Transmission</u>, 4, 79-95.
- Osterrieth, P. (1944). Le test de copie d'une figure complexe. <u>Archives de Psychologie</u>, 30, 206-356.
- Parmalee, P., Lawton, M., & Katz, I. (1989). Psychometric properties of the Geriatric Depression Scale among the institutionalized aged. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 1, 331-338.
- Petersen, R., & Weingartner, H. (1991). Memory nomenclature. In T. Yanagihara & R. Petersen (Eds.), Memory Disorders Research and Clinical Practice (pp.9-20). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Pfeiffer, E. (1975). A short portable mental status questionnaire for the assessment of organic brain deficit in elderly patients. <u>Journal of the American Gerontological Society</u>, 23, 433-441.
- Poitrenaud, J., Moy, F., Girousse, A., Wolmark, Y., & Piette, F. (1989). Psychometric procedures for analysis of memory losses in the elderly. <u>Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics</u>, 1, 173-183.
- Pomara, N., Stanley, B., Block, R., Berchou, R., Stanley, M., Greenblatt, D., Newton, R., & Gershon, S. (1985). Increased sensitivity of the elderly to the central depressant effects of diazepam. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychiatry</u>, 46, 185-187.
- Pomara, N., Deptula, D., Medel, M., Block, R., & Greenblatt, D. (1989). Effects of Diazepam on recall memory: Relationship to aging, dose, and duration of treatment. <u>Psychopharamacology Bulletin</u>, 25, 144-148.

- Popkin, S., Gallagher, D., Thompson, L., & Moore, M. (1982). Memory complaint and performance in normal and depressed older adults. Experimental Aging Research, 8, 141-145.
- Rehm, L., & O'Hara, M. (1985). Item characteristics of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 19, 31-41.
- Reisberg, B., Ferris, S., de Leon, M., & Crook, T. (1982). The Global Deterioration Scale for assessment of primary degenerative dementia. <u>American Journal of Psychiatry</u>, 139, 1136-1139.
- Rey, A. (1964). <u>L'examen clinique en psychologie</u>. Paris: Presses de l'Universitaire de France.
- Robins, L., Helzer, J., Croughlin, J., & Ratcliffe, K. (1981). National Institute of Mental Health Diagnostic Interview Schedule: Its history, characteristics, and validity. Archives of General Psychiatry, 38, 381-189.
- Robinson-Whelen, S., & Storandt, M. (1992). Immediate and delayed prose recall among normal and demented adults. Archives of Neurology, 49, 32-34.
- Roth, M., Tym, E., Mountjoy, C., Huppert, F., Hendrie, H., Verma, S., Goddard, R. (1986). CAMDEX: A standard instrument for the diagnosis of mental disorder in the elderly with special reference to the early detection of dementia. <u>British Journal of Psychiatry</u>, 149, 698-709.
- Rubin, E., Kinscherf, D., Grant, E., & Storandt, M. (1991). The influence of major depression on clinical and psychometric assessment of senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. American Journal of Psychiatry, 148, 1164-1171.
- Ruff, R., Quayhagen, M., & Light, R. (1988). Selective Reminding Test: A normative study of verbal learning in adults. <u>Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology</u>, 11, 539-550.
- Russel, W. (1975). Explaining the brain. London: Oxford University Press.
- Salamero, M., & Marcos, T. (1992). Factor study of the Geriatric Depression Scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 86, 283-286.
- Schmeck, R., Ribich, F., & Ramanaiah, N. (1977). Development of a self-report inventory for assessing individual differences in learning processes. <u>Applied Psychological Measurement</u>, 1, 413-431.
- Schmidt, M., Trueblood, W., Merwin, M., & Durham, R. (1994). How much do 'attention' tests tell us? <u>Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology</u>, 9, 383-394.

- Smith, M., Glass, G., & Miller, T. (1980). Benefits of psychotherapy. Baltimore, MD: John Hopkins University Press.
- Speedie, L., Rabins, P., Pearlson, G., Moberg, P. (1990). Confrontation naming deficit in dementia of depression. <u>Journal of Neuropsychiatry</u>, 2, 59-63.
- Spitzer. R., Endicott, J., & Robbins, E. (1978). Research Diagnostic Criteria: Rationale and reliability. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 36, 773-782.
- Stern, Y., Sano, M., & Mayeux, R. (1987). Effects of oral Physostigmine in Alzheimer's Disease. Annals of Neurology, 22, 306-310.
- Storandt, M., Botwinick, J., & Danziger, W. (1987). Longitudinal changes: Patients with mild SDAT and matched healthy controls. In L. Poon (Ed.), <u>Handbook of Clinical Memory Assessment of Older Adults</u> (pp. 277-284). APA Press.
- Stukenberg, K., Dura, J., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. (1990). Depression screening scale validation in an elderly, community-dwelling population. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 2, 134-138.
- Sunderland, A., Watts, K., Baddeley, A., & Harris, J. (1986). Subjective memory assessment and test performance in elderly adults. <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>, <u>41</u>, 376-384.
- Taylor, J., Miller, T., & Tinklenberg, J. (1992). Correlates of memory decline: A 4-year longitudinal study of older adults with memory complaints. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, 7, 185-193.
- Thal, L., & Fuld, P. (1983). Memory enhancement with oral physostigmine in Alzheimer's disease. The New England Journal of Medicine, 308, 720.
- Thal, L., Fuld, P., Masur, D., & Sharpless, N. (1983). Oral Physostigmine and Lecithin improve memory in Alzheimer Disease. <u>Annals of Neurology</u>, 13, 491-496.
- Thal, L., Masur, D., Blau, A., Fuld, P., & Klauber, M. (1989). Chronic oral Physostigmine without Lecithin improves memory in Alzheimer's Disease. <u>Journal of the American Geriatrics Society</u>, 37, 42-48.
- Tombaugh, T., & McIntyre, N. (1992). The Mini-Mental State Examination: A comprehensive review. <u>Journal of the American Geriatrics Society</u>, <u>40</u>, 922-935.
- Tun, P., Perlmutter, L., Russo, P., & Nathan, D. (1987). Memory self-assessment and performance in aged diabetics and non-diabetics. <u>Experimental Aging Research</u>, 13, 151-157.

- Weingartner, H., Grafman, J., Boutelle, W., Kaye, W., & Martin, P. (1983). Forms of memory failure. Science, 221, 380-382.
- Weiss, I., Nagel, C., & Aronson, M. (1986). Applicability of depression scales to the old old person. <u>Journal of the American Geriatric Society</u>, 34, 215-218.
- Wells, C. (1980). The differential diagnosis of psychiatric disorder in the elderly. In J. Cole & J. Barrett (Eds.), Psychopathology in the aged. New York: Raven Press.
- West, R., Boatwright, L., & Schleser, R. (1984). The link between memory performance, self-assessment, and affective status. Experimental Aging Research, 10, 197-200.
- Wilson, B., Cockburn, J., Baddeley, A., & Hiorns, R. (1989). The development and validation of a test battery for detecting and monitoring everyday memory problems. <u>Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology</u>, 2, 885-870.
- Yesavage, J., Brink, T., Rose, T., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. (1983). Development and validation of a Geriatric Depression Screening Scale: A preliminary report. <u>Journal of Psychiatric Research</u>, <u>17</u>, 37-49.
- Zarit, S. (1982). Affective correlates of self-reports about memory of older people. <u>International Journal of Behavioral Geriatrics</u>, 1, 25-35.
- Zelinski, E., Anthony-Bergstone, C., & Gilewski, M. (1990). Memory functioning Questionnaire: Concurrent validity with memory performance and self-reported memory failures. Psychology and Aging, 5, 388-399.